Role of PTP-alpha in Integrated c-Kit and Fc-epsilon R1 Mast Cell Activation

by

Alexander Geldman

B.Sc., The University of British Columbia, 2007

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

Master of Science

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES (Experimental Medicine)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

January 2012

© Alexander Geldman, 2012

Abstract

Mast cells (MCs) play a crucial role in the induction of allergic asthma by secreting inflammatory mediators in response to allergens. In addition to MC activation via the antigen/IgE receptor Fc ϵ R1, MC tissue recruitment and responsiveness is greatly enhanced by co-stimulation with the stem cell factor (SCF). Levels of SCF are elevated in the asthmatic lung, where it stimulates the c-Kit receptor on MCs. Sufficient signaling through c-Kit and FccR1 requires the activation of Src family kinases, which can be regulated by protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTP α). Our lab has previously demonstrated that PTPα exerts positive regulatory effects on SCF-stimulated c-Kit phosphorylation and MC migration. In contrast, PTPa negatively regulates antigen-induced mast cell activation and the release of inflammatory mediators. To determine the role of PTPa in the integrated c-Kit and FccR1 signaling that is believed to facilitate allergic inflammation, mouse bone marrow-derived WT and PTP α -KO MCs were treated with combinations of antigen and SCF, and analyzed for secretory and migratory responses as well as for the activation of key signaling proteins. However, the expected MC hyperresponsiveness due to the lack of PTPa was not observed, which may have arisen from intrinsic changes in the cultured mast cells and not from testing methodologies. Co-treatment with antigen and SCF produced synergistic degranulation and cytokine release that was similar between WT and PTPα-KO MCs. Yet, PTPα was required for the full phosphorylation of Akt and p38 after 15 min co-treatment with antigen and SCF. PTP α itself was found to be dephosphorylated at tyrosine 789, especially upon treatment with antigen. During fibronectin-aided Transwell migration towards SCF,

ii

the addition of antigen significantly reduced the number of PTP α -KO but not WT MCs that remained attached to fibronectin. Interestingly, in the presence of fibronectin, the SCF-mediated migration of WT and PTP α -KO MCs was not significantly affected by the addition of antigen, whereas fibronectin-independent MC migration was synergistically enhanced by antigen and SCF. Taken together, despite effects on the FccRI/c-Kit integrated activation of downstream signaling proteins, the overall SCF-enhanced mediator release and migration of mast cells were found to be independent of PTP α .

Preface

I carried out all the experiments described in this thesis, including data collection and analysis. The colony of mice used were maintained by Dr. Jing Wang, following the guidelines of the Canadian Council on Animal Care. All animal procedures were approved by the University of British Columbia Animal Care Committee (PTP Alpha Mouse Study, certificate number A09-0447-R002).

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Table of Contents	v
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Abbreviations	x
Acknowledgements	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Mast Cell Biology	1
1.1.2 Mast Cell Effector Functions	2
1.2 Allergic Disorders	6
1.2.1 Lung Epithelium	8
1.2.2 Antigen Presentation and T Cells	10
1.2.3 Anaphylaxis	12
1.2.4 Cytokines and Complement	13
1.3 Mast Cell Activation	15
1.3.1 FcεR1 Signaling	15
1.3.2 C-Kit Signaling	17
1.3.3 Mast Cell Migration	20
1.4 Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases	22
1.4.1 PTP-Alpha	24
1.4.2 Activation of Src Family Kinases	26
1.4.3 Phosphorylation and Regulation of $PTP\alpha$	27
1.4.4 Biological Functions of PTPα	29
1.4.5 PTPα in Mast Cell Activation	31
1.5 Hypothesis	32

Table of Contents

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	
2.1 Mast Cell Culture	40

2.2 Antibodies	41
2.3 IgE Sensitization of Cultured BMMCs	42
2.3.1 Old (Standard) Method of IgE Sensitization	42
2.3.2 New (Prolonged) Method of IgE Sensitization	42
2.4 Stimulation of BMMCs	42
2.5 Cell Lysis and Immunoprecipitation	43
2.6 Immunoblotting	43
2.7 Degranulation Assay	44
2.8 Cytokine Secretion and ELISA	45
2.9 FACS Analysis	46
2.10 Transwell Migration	47
2.10.1 Migration Index Determination	47
2.10.2 Adherent Cell Analysis	47
2.11 Statistical Data Analysis	48

Chapter 3: SCF-Enhanced Secretory Responses	
3.1 Rationale	49
3.2 Mast Cell Synergistic Degranulation	50
3.3 Synergistic Release of Cytokines	54
3.4 Analysis of Surface Binding of IgE to BMMCs	55
3.5 Discussion	56

Chapter 4: Integrated c-Kit/FccR1 Signaling	62
4.1 Rationale	62
4.2 Global Tyrosine Phosphorylation	63
4.3 Dephosphorylation of PTP α Tyrosine 789	65
4.4 PI3K/Akt Pathway	66
4.5 PLCγ1 Activation	67
4.6 p38 Activation	69
4.7 Erk and Jnk Activation	70
4.8 c-Kit Receptor Phosphorylation	71
4.9 FccR1 Receptor Phosphorylation	73
4.10 Lyn Activation	74

4.11 Discussion76

Chapter 5: Mast Cell Migration Towards Antigen and SCF	88
5.1 Rationale	88
5.2 BMMC Migration in the Presence of Fibronectin	89
5.3 Adherent Cell Analysis	90
5.4 Fibronectin-Independent Mast Cell Migration	92
5.5 Discussion	93

6.1 Antigen-Mediated Responses	101
6.2 SCF-Mediated Chemotaxis of IgE-Sensitized BMMCs	.106
6.3 Synergistic Mast Cell Activation by Antigen and SCF	.107
6.4 Future Directions	109

References

List of Tables

Table 4.1. PTPα-dependent signaling alterations in BMMCs activated with antigen	
and SCF	81

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Allergens induce Th2 immunity and mast cell responses	. 34
Figure 1.2. Antigen induces FccR1 signaling cascades and multiple mast cell responses	. 35
Figure 1.3. SCF induces receptor c-Kit dimerization and activation of signaling cascades	. 36
Figure 1.4. The superfamily of protein tyrosine phosphatases	. 37
Figure 1.5. Regulation of Src family kinases (SFKs) by protein tyrosine phosphata alpha (PTPα)	ıse . 38
Figure 1.6. PTP α in the integrated c-Kit and Fc ϵ R1 signaling cascades	. 39
Figure 3.1. SCF enhances antigen-mediated degranulation	. 59
Figure 3.2. SCF-enhanced cytokine secretion	. 60
Figure 3.3. BMMC surface presentations of IgE and c-Kit after prolonged sensitization.	. 61
Figure 4.1. PTP α and global protein tyrosine phosphorylation	. 82
Figure. 4.2. Effects of treatment with antigen and SCF on Akt activation in WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs	1 . 83
Figure 4.3. PTPα-KO BMMCs show enhanced activation of phospholipase C γ-1 upon treatment with antigen	. 84
Figure 4.4. Antigen and/or SCF-induced phosphorylation of p38	. 85
Figure 4.5. PTPα does not significantly affect the phosphorylation of ERK, JNK, a c-Kit upon treatments with antigen and/or SCF	nd . 86
Figure 4.6. PTPα does not significantly alter the phosphorylation of Lyn and FcεR upon treatment with antigen and SCF	1-β . 87
Figure 5.1. Antigen and SCF-induced migration is not significantly affected by PTI	Ρα . 97
Figure 5.2. The number of fibronectin-bound, migrating cells after chemotaxis	. 98
Figure 5.3. Total migrating mast cells after fibronectin-aided chemotaxis	. 99
Figure 5.4. PTP α does not affect fibronectin-independent chemotaxis	100
Figure 6.1. Proposed PTPa-dependent processes during mast cell activation	112

List of Abbreviations

Abl	Abelson murine leukemia
ACP1	acid phosphatase 1
ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloprotease
Ag	antigen, allergen
AHR	airway hyper-responsiveness
ATP	adenosine-5'-triphosphate
BMMC	bone marrow-derived mast cell
BSA	bovine serum albumin
Btk	Bruton's tyrosine kinase
CD	cluster of differentiation
CDC	cell division cycle
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CRAC	calcium-release activated calcium
Csk	C-terminal Src kinase
DNP	2,4-dinitrophenyl
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
Erk	extracellular signal regulated kinase
FACS	fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FAK	focal adhesion kinase
FcɛR1	high-affinity IgE receptor
FITC	fluorescein isothiocyanate
FN	fibronectin

FRET	fluorescence resonance energy transfer
Gab	Grb2-associated-binding protein
GATA	trans-acting T cell-specific transcription factor
GPI	glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol
Grb	growth factor receptor-bound protein
HDM	house dust mite
HP	hypersensitivity pneumonitis
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HSA	human serum albumin
IgE	immunoglobulin E
IGF	insulin-like growth factor
IL	interleukin
IP ₃	inositol triphosphate
ITAM	immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
Jnk	c-Jun N-terminal kinases
K _v	voltage-gated potassium channel
LAT	linker for activation of T cells
LMPTP	low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
МНС	major histocompatibility complex
МКР	mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NTAL	non-T cell activation linker
PAMP	pathogen-associated molecular pattern

PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PE	phycoerythrin
PEST	proline (P), glutamic acid (E), serine (S), and threonine (T) motif
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIP ₂	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate
PIP ₃	phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate
РКС	protein kinase C
PLCγ	phosphoinositide phospholipase C-gamma
PMSF	phenylmethanesulfonyl fluoride
PRL	phosphatase of regenerating liver
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog
PTP	protein tyrosine phosphatase
Rac	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate
SCF	stem cell factor
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SFK	Src family kinase
SH	Src homology domain
SHIP	SH2 domain-containing inositol 5' phosphatase
SHP	Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase
SOS	son of sevenless
STAT	signal transducer and activator of transcription
Th	T-helper type
ΤΝFα	tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TSLP	thymic stromal lymphopoietin

Acknowledgements

I am sincerely grateful to Dr. Catherine Pallen for her continuous personal and academic support throughout my work. As a supervisor she provided me with an invaluable opportunity to learn many new skills and explore various fields of research. Her kind guidance helped me develop and mature as a student and a scientist.

I would also like to thank all of my lab colleagues for creating a friendly work environment and helping me gain valuable knowledge from their experiences. The completion of my project was made possible by our lab manager Dr. Jing Wang, who trained me to effectively perform various lab techniques, and for maintaining our experimental colonies of mice.

I appreciate all the support and advice of my graduate committee members, Dr. Kelly McNagny, Dr. Laura Sly, and Dr. Pauline Johnson with the direction of my project and revision of this thesis.

The love and inspiration of my close family in Canada has given me the strength to succeed in university and obtain higher education.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Mast Cell Biology

Mast cells specialize in the secretion of potent inflammatory mediators and facilitation of Type 2 T-helper (Th2) immunity during infection, allergies and many other immune disorders. Human mast cells originate in the bone marrow from CD34⁺/c-Kit⁺ progenitors that pass through the circulatory system and home to specific tissue sites to complete their maturation (Kirshenbaum et al., 1999). Unlike the other major FccR1-expressing (the high-affinity IgE receptor) granulocyte, the basophil, mast cells maintain expression of c-Kit receptor throughout their life, and do not stay in circulation for long (Brown et al., 2008; Karasuyama et al., 2011; Sokol et al., 2009a). Human tissue resident mast cells require stimulation by the c-Kit ligand, SCF, to survive for several months. In healthy individuals, mast cells are mainly found near mucosal and epithelial barriers with the environment where they serve as early detectors of invading pathogens. They are highly conserved through the evolution of organisms and are vital for survival since no human deficient in mast cells has been found (McNeil et al., 2007).

Mast cell development differs between tissue types in order to produce more appropriate responses. As a result, many features of mast cells exhibit considerable heterogeneity such as granule contents, receptor expression and responsiveness (Bradding 2009; Kitamura 1989). Different subtypes of mast cells have been characterized in humans and animals based on their expression of granule

proteases and tissue distribution. Human tryptase-containing mast cells are best exemplified by mucosal mast cells found in rodent lungs and intestines, whereas the chymase and tryptase subtype in humans corresponds to rodent mast cells in connective tissues such as the skin (Ekoff et al., 2007). Both subtypes also exhibit plasticity upon interactions with endothelial or epithelial cell types (Gilfillan et al., 2011). Mast cells can also fine-tune their responses towards specific pathogen types, as well as provide both pro- and anti-inflammatory immune regulation (Abraham and St. John 2010; Lu et al., 2006; Nechushtan, 2010). Due to their localization at common pathogen entry sites, mast cells are some of the first immune cells to detect bacteria, viruses, and parasites. Recently it was identified that binding of IgE antibodies to FccR1 promotes mast cell survival in the absence of growth factors and antigen (Ekoff et al., 2007; Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Kawakami and Kitaura, 2005; Kohno et al., 2005; McNeil et al., 2007; Sly et al., 2008). Thus, the induction of allergic sensitivity that produces IgE can increase the number of Th2 effector cells as well as their sensitivity to allergens.

1.1.2 Mast Cell Effector Functions

In addition to a major role in allergic diseases (detailed in the following sections), mast cells also perform a crucial task in the body's defence against various pathogens via secretion of inflammatory mediators during early infection (Gilfillan et al., 2011; Moiseeva and Bradding, 2011). Their ability to rapidly home into barrier tissues such as the skin and lung epithelium allows them to direct specific immune responses by recruiting and activating other leukocytes. In addition to Toll-like and

other innate immune receptors, mast cells express the antigen receptor complex FccR1. Stimulation of these receptors by microbial products, allergens, host cytokines and complement proteins contributes to the recruitment and activation of mast cells and the subsequent secretion of inflammatory molecules.

Antigen stimulation induces multiple phases of mediator release. Degranulation is the earliest event, in which bioactive compounds stored in cytoplasmic granules are released within minutes of antigen exposure. Some of the products of mast cell granule exocytosis include bioactive amines (histamine, serotonin), serine proteases (chymase and tryptase), proteoglycans (heparine, chondroitin sulfate), growth factors and enzymes (Broide et al., 2011; Brown et al., 2008). A number of positively charged proteases remain attached to negative proteoglycans, slowing their dispersal. Certain mast cell proteases help combat infections, while others promote tissue remodeling during allergic inflammation. Tryptase enzymes inhibit blood clotting and promote mucous secretion in the airways, aid in microbial elimination, and disable toxic molecules (McNeil et al., 2007). Mast cell chymases can activate matrix metalloproteases that promote tissue repair, and also recruit other leukocytes (Caughey, 2011). Histamine rapidly solubilizes from granules and induces allergic symptoms such as swelling and mucous accumulation. Following early degranulation, lipid-derived prostaglandins and leukotrienes are also released, increasing endothelial permeability and pain sensation (Abraham and St. John, 2010). Platelet activating factor produced by mast cells is an important mediator of systemic anaphylaxis (Arias et al., 2009).

Minutes to hours after the activation of mast cells by antigen, newly synthesized inflammatory cytokines and interleukins are secreted, including TNF α , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-13 and others. These cytokines mediate a variety of secondary responses, such as the recruitment of leukocytes, further induction of immune mediators, and activation of connective tissue cells. Tumor necrosis factor (TNF α) is a central proinflammatory mediator that promotes fever, immune cell adhesion, lymph node hypertrophy and other antimicrobial responses during infection and chronic inflammation (Babu et al., 2011; Laichalk et al., 1996; McLachlan et al., 2003). Inhibition of TNF α is being clinically tested as therapy against various severe inflammatory disorders (Tracey et al., 2008). The mast cell cytokine IL-13 has been shown to promote mucous secretion which helps eliminate parasites, but also contributes to worsening allergic reactions (Scales et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2010).

More recently, mast cells have also been implicated in the progression of various human cancers (Groot Kormelink et al., 2009; Maltby et al., 2009; Nechushtan, 2010). In mouse models of adenomatous polyposis, mast cells are recruited earlier than other leukocytes and promote colon tumor expansion (Gounaris et al., 2007). Additionally, polyp-associated mast cells can reprogram anti-inflammatory regulatory T cells into IL-17-producing pro-inflammatory cells, which lose the ability to suppress tumor growth (Colombo and Piconese, 2009). In other malignancies mast cells are recruited by various growth factors (including SCF) to promote tumor metastasis by secreting angiogenic factors and inducing tissue remodelling (Crivellato et al., 2008).

However, not all functions of mast cells facilitate cancer progression. In some forms of breast cancer and various stages of other malignancies, higher mast cell numbers can be associated with better patient outcomes (Galinsky and Nechushtan, 2008). Evidence from animal models suggests that IgE-mediated adaptive Th2 immunity can help in the elimination of cancer cells. IgE antibodies against tumor antigens can initiate lysis of tumor cells by Th2 effector cells (Jensen-Jarolim et al., 2008). In human epidemiological studies high IgE (atopy) is associated with a reduced risk of cancer mortality, while eosinophils from atopic patients also exhibit more tumoricidal functions. Taken together, an improved understanding of mast cell regulation may open new venues in the treatments of both cancer and allergic disorders. Figure 1.1 illustrates some of the key mediators of allergic Th2 immunity and mast cell responses.

1.2 Allergic Disorders

Allergic diseases are characterized by harmful inflammatory responses to normally innocuous molecules by immune mechanisms that evolved to protect against invasive pathogens. Allergic asthma affects hundreds of millions of people worldwide, placing additional financial burdens on healthcare. The prevalence of allergic disorders including asthma, food allergies and anaphylaxis has grown over the past decades, particularly among children (Finkelman 2010; Moneret-Vautrin et al., 2005; Umetsu et al., 2002). While each type of allergy may be represented by a spectrum of disorders, affected by genetic and environmental factors, they commonly involve the dysregulated activation of Th2 cell responses and symptoms caused by innate immune-effector cells (Brown et al., 2008; Moiseeva and Bradding, 2011).

Asthma symptoms are caused by chronic inflammation of the conducting airways, characterized by difficult breathing due to airway constriction and excessive mucous secretion. Seasonal plant pollen, animal dander, house dust mites, and mould allergens commonly trigger such airway hyper-responsiveness (AHR), although smoke, pollution, and exercise can also induce similar symptoms in some non-allergic individuals (Kim et al., 2010a; Zhang and Kohl, 2010). Epidemiological studies have shown that chronically elevated levels of serum IgE antibodies, broadly described as atopy, is strongly associated with the risk of developing asthma and other allergic disorders (Kim et al., 2010a). IgE molecules bind to the high affinity FccR1 receptors of granulocytes, particularly mast cells and basophils, stimulating

them to secrete potent pro-inflammatory mediators and cytokines upon allergen (antigen, Ag) exposure. In severe reactions these Th2 immune mediators, together with activated complement proteins, may produce anaphylactic shock or even death in susceptible individuals (Matasar and Neugut, 2003; Zhang and Kohl, 2010).

The developed animal models of allergen-induced AHR have greatly improved the understanding of the cells and bioactive molecules involved in the pathophysiology of allergic asthma. According to prevailing theories, initial inhalation of an allergen induces its uptake and processing by resident lung antigen-presenting cells, such as dendritic cells (Banchereau and Steinman, 1998; Hammad et al., 2009). Antigenloaded dendritic cells migrate to the lympth nodes, where they present the processed allergen epitopes on MHC class II molecules to naïve T cells. Other foreign molecules, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharides, can trigger the pathogenassociated molecular pattern receptors (PAMPs) on dendritic, and epithelial cells. This additional signal enhances the maturation and migration of dendritic cells, and stimulates the secretion of cytokines that determine the differentiation pathway towards specific T helper cell subtypes (Hammad et al., 2009; Sokol et al., 2008; Sokol et al., 2009a). The development of allergen-specific Th2 cells requires their stimulation with interleukin-4 (IL-4) cytokine, which can initially be provided by basophils and other cell types (Khodoun et al., 2004). These responses are crucial for the effective immunological elimination of helminth parasites in vivo (Pennock and Grencis, 2004; Scales et al., 2007; Yamashita et al., 1999).

The mature Th2 cells home to specific tissue sites producing large quantities of cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13, IL-5, IL-9, IL-25, which drive the inflammatory activation of effector cells. Under the influence of IL-4, B cells undergo immunoglobulin class switching to start producing IgE antibodies and memory cells. IgE molecules enhance the expression of FccR1 receptors on mast cells and basophils, and mediate degranulation and cytokine production by these cells upon subsequent antigen exposure, causing the various allergic symptoms (Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Oka et al., 2004) (Figure 1.1). However, Th1 and CD8⁺ cell activity has also been shown to worsen lung inflammation in severe chronic asthma as well as during viral infections (Hamzaoui et al., 2005; Meyts et al., 2006) The specific roles and functions of these immune regulators will be described below in more detail.

1.2.1 Lung Epithelium

The epithelial lining of the lungs serves as a barrier against pathogens and irritants in the air. However, in most asthmatics the epithelium and the underlying structures sustain damage from chronic allergic inflammation, which is partly due to inherent defects in the maintenance of its barrier function (Holgate, 2008). Lung epithelial cells from asthmatics allow more allergens and pollutants, such as smoke particles, to penetrate deeper into the lungs to cause damage and immune activation, than in healthy individuals. There is strong evidence that air pollution worsens asthma symptoms, and combined with the insufficient antioxidant defenses in susceptible people, may contribute to the initiation of chronic lung diseases (Nadeau et al., 2010; Rahman et al., 2006). The majority of children who develop non-atopic wheezing

from early-life allergen exposure will eventually regain healthy lung function, whereas children with atopy are much more likely to maintain airway hyperresponsiveness and develop asthma in adulthood (Illi et al., 2006). It is postulated that a combination of genetic and environmental risk factors contribute to the vulnerability of lung epithelial cells. These susceptible individuals acquire more tissue damage from early-life viral infections and pollution, which cannot be effectively repaired, resulting in a chronic lung tissue damage and inflammation (Holgate, 2008).

Furthermore, asthma patients are less resistant to many common respiratory viruses, caused directly by insufficient antiviral interferon responses and apoptosis of infected lung epithelial cells (Wark et al., 2005). Thus infection-induced damage may enhance sensitivity towards allergens and the activation of Th2 immunity. Lung epithelial cells respond to a variety of foreign molecules via innate receptors, such as Toll-like receptors, by releasing cytokines and immune cell chemoattractants (Hammad et al., 2009; Liu, 2006). These mediators will promote the development of Th2 cells and subsequent cytokine cascades to attract and activate immune effector cells. Elevated levels of stem cell factor (SCF) and IgE recruit mast cells, and prime them to release inflammation (Da Silva et al., 2006; Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Okayama and Kawakami, 2006). Macrophages, eosinophils, basophils, and neutrophils have also been shown to accumulate in asthmatic lungs, though the

individual contribution of each cell type towards AHR and tissue damage is still debated (Karasuyama et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2010b).

The remodeling of connective tissue is a hallmark of chronic lung inflammation, and often involves epithelial damage, fibrosis of subepithelial layers, hyperplasia of smooth muscle and goblet cells, excess mucous, and angiogenesis (Sumi and Hamid, 2007). These histological abnormalities strongly correlate with asthma severity at all ages, and may be the body's mechanism of repairing and preventing further damage to susceptible lungs. Production of epidermal growth factor facilitates repair of the lung epithelial layer, but in severe asthma it also stimulates neutrophil recruitment and inflammation (Hamilton et al., 2003). Increased numbers of mast cells accumulate in the lung with asthma progression, where they release IL-4 and other cytokines, stimulating the buildup of extracellular matrix proteins such as collagen (Plante et al., 2006). ADAM33 (A disintegrin and metalloprotease 33) is one of the major susceptibility genes for the development of asthma, and it encodes a proteolytic enzyme expressed by subepithelial connective tissue cells. This provides more evidence that aberrant homeostasis of lung epithelial structures plays a crucial role in asthma pathogenesis.

1.2.2 Antigen Presentation and T Cells

The differentiation of Th2 cells, which mediate antiparasitic and allergic responses, requires the expression of GATA-binding protein 3 (GATA3) in antigen-presented CD4⁺ T cells. IL-4 cytokine stimulation is sufficient to stimulate STAT6 signaling to

upregulate GATA3 in naïve T cells (Zhu et al., 2001). Activated lung dendritic cells express high levels of MHCII and the co-stimulatory molecules CD80/CD86, making them strong inducers of T cell receptor signaling during antigen presentation. However, dendritic cells alone are incapable of producing IL-4, therefore it must initially come from other types of cell (Karasuyama et al., 2011). Recently it has been postulated that basophils are important producers of IL-4 in response to allergens (Tang et al., 2010). Several animal models have demonstrated that basophils are sufficient for antigen processing, migration to lymph nodes and induction of Th2 cell differentiation in the absence of dendritic cells (Sokol et al., 2009b). Nonetheless, it remains to be seen whether human basophils are essential for sensitization to common allergens and disease development. Moreover, basophils induce weaker T cell receptor signaling than dendritic cells, which actually favours Th2 pathway differentiation (Constant et al., 1995). Interestingly, in more advanced asthma, T-helper type 1 cells (Th1) may also contribute to the severity of lung tissue damage and remodelling. The cytokine interleukin-12 is produced by dendritic cells to promote Th1 cell development, while inhibiting the Th2 pathway during initial antigen sensitization. In later phases of allergic asthma, Th1 effector cells are also recruited to the lungs, where they secrete more proinflammatory mediators (Meyts et al., 2006). Taken together, the presentation of common human allergens and the resulting allergic responses involve a complex interplay of innate and adaptive immune cells, which depending on the type of allergen, may contribute to disease progression.

1.2.3 Anaphylaxis

Anaphylaxis is a rapid, severe allergic reaction, which may result in shock or death. Close to 1% of people experience anaphylactic reactions in their lifetime, with increasing prevalence in children and young adults (Lin et al., 2008; Matasar and Neugut, 2003; Moneret-Vautrin et al., 2005). Similarly to allergic asthma, anaphylaxis is most commonly caused by allergen-induced systemic activation of highly IgE-sensitized mast cells and other FccR1 expressing Th2 effector cells. This triggers a rapid release of inflammatory cytokines and vasoactive mediators, which contribute to swelling, reduced blood pressure and difficult breathing (Sampson et al., 2006). Anaphylactic sensitization involves similar mechanisms of Th2 cell development and antigen-specific IgE antibody production as in other allergic disorders. In susceptible individuals high levels of serum IgE increase the risk of anaphylaxis by enhancing the number and antigen sensitivity of mast cells (Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Kawakami and Kitaura, 2005). Of all food allergens in the United States, peanut products cause the most cases of severe anaphylaxis (Finkelman, 2010; Sicherer and Sampson, 2010). Recent evidence indicates that peanut antigen stimulation of mast cells via IgE/FcER1 signaling induces IL-13 cytokine production and allergic inflammation (Wang et al., 2010). Anaphylaxis can also be triggered by allergies to drugs, immune therapy, or by direct stimulation of mast cells and basophils by temperature changes, toxins, or radiation (Simons, 2010). Hyper-proliferation disorders, such as mastocytosis, can also induce

anaphylactic reactions due to abnormally elevated numbers of immune effector cells (Jensen et al., 2008a; Orfao et al., 2007).

1.2.4 Cytokines and Complement

Various immune cytokines that normally play protective roles against pathogens have also been implicated in the development of IgE sensitization and facilitation of allergic responses. This section describes some new key molecular mediators of allergic disorders, while the following sections will focus on mast cell functions. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) is produced by human epithelial cells in response to microbial components, inflammation, and injury (Allakhverdi et al., 2007). TSLP facilitates the production of Th2 cytokines from various leukocytes, and is up-regulated in the lungs of asthmatics with disease progression (Ying et al., 2005). In addition to activating granulocytes such as mast cells, TSLP is also produced by them, and can serve as a feedback loop for chronic inflammation (Liu, 2006; Miyata et al., 2008). Both IL-25 and IL-33 cytokines are produced by a variety of cells in response to allergen sensitization. They mainly function to amplify Th2 cell activation and granulocyte responses, which lead to chronic airway hyperresponsiveness (Pecaric-Petkovic et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2007). Additionally, IL-33 and other Th2 cytokines enhance the development of alternatively activated macrophages, which enhance allergic AHR as well (Kurowska-Stolarska et al., 2009).

Complement proteins are an integral part of the innate immune system. Upon recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), they activate a variety of antimicrobial pathways (Finkelman, 2010). Common allergens induce the proteolytic cascade of complement proteins, producing C3a and C5a anaphylatoxins in the lungs of asthmatics (Krug et al., 2001). Numerous genetic and animal studies have confirmed that complement proteins are crucial components of allergic disorders (Humbles et al., 2000). The recruitment and induction of inflammatory mediators by mast cells is also regulated by the complement proteins, which facilitates the pathogenesis of allergic asthma and anaphylaxis (Hogaboam et al., 1998; Metcalfe et al., 2009; Nilsson et al., 1996).

1.3 Mast Cell Activation

1.3.1 FccR1 Signaling

Mast cells and basophils are the main Th2/IgE effector cells, and express the high affinity IqE receptor, $Fc\epsilon R1$. This membrane receptor consists of four subunits, IqEbound α , tetramembrane-spanning β and two disulfide-linked γ subunits (Kraft and Kinet, 2007). The β subunit is not essential, and facilitates downstream signaling via the y-subunit. Crosslinking of FccR1/IgE receptors by polyvalent antigens/allergens rapidly activates mast cell signaling cascades to trigger degranulation, cytokine release, and cell migration that drive allergic responses. Additionally, in the absence of antigens, IgE molecules remain strongly bound to FccR1 and promote mast cell survival, differentiation, and activation (Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Kawakami and Kitaura, 2005; Oka et al., 2004; Sly et al., 2008). Initial antigen-induced aggregation of FccR1 activates the receptor-proximal Src family kinase (SFK) Lyn by the protein tyrosine phosphatase, CD45 (Grochowy et al., 2009). There is evidence that formation of receptor complexes occurs within detergent-resistant glycosphingolipidrich membrane domains, also known as lipid rafts (Field et al., 1997). However, the exact functions and temporal protein associations of lipid rafts remain to be further elucidated. In mast cells, activated Lyn phosphorylates the immunoreceptor tyrosinebased activation motifs (ITAMs) on the Fc ϵ R1 β and γ subunits to recruit the cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase Syk. Activated Lyn and Syk phosphorylate the membrane scaffolding proteins LAT and NTAL (LAT2). These scaffolds recruit other adaptor proteins to activate the PI3K, PLCy and Ras/MAPK downstream signaling cascades, which regulate calcium signaling, gene transcription and cytoskeletal

rearrangements required for various mast cell responses (Figure 1.2). These pathways will be described in more detail in the following sections. Other Src family kinases, Fyn and Hck, also contribute to the activation of FccR1 signaling in mast cells (Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004; Hong et al., 2007; Parravicini et al., 2002; Sanchez-Miranda et al., 2010). Lyn also activates the negative regulator of the PI3K pathway SHIP (SH2 domain containing inositol-5-phosphatase) to inhibit various mast cell inflammatory responses (Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004). The intensity of antigen stimulation appears to dictate the effects of Lyn kinase on mast cell activation. Weak (low-dose) antigen stimuli prevent Lyn/FccR1 association and activate downstream signaling cascades required for degranulation. In contrast, high (supraoptimal) antigen doses promote Lyn-mediated activation of Csk (C-terminal Src kinase) and SHIP to inhibit mast cell responses (Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004).

Calcium ion levels within lymphocytes play a crucial role in mediating various immune responses to specific stimuli. Different cytokines and immune receptors activate PLCγ signaling to induce an increase in intracellular calcium that triggers gene transcription, mediator release and migration of mast cells (Feske, 2007). Antigen and IgE-mediated cross-linking of the FccR1 receptor complex rapidly activates the tyrosine kinases Lyn and Syk, which phosphorylate the membrane scaffolding protein, LAT. The recruited adaptor proteins Gads and SLP-76 allow Vav to activate LAT-bound phospholipase C gamma (PLCγ). In mast cells two isoforms of PLCγ hydrolyze lipid-bound PIP₂ into inositol triphosphate (IP₃) and diacylglycerol.

The IP₃ receptors on the endoplasmic reticulum open the flow of calcium ions into the cytosol, which also opens plasma membrane calcium channels (CRAC) to increase intracellular calcium and facilitate the exocytosis of mast cell granules (Kalesnikoff and Galli, 2008; Wen et al., 2002). Diacylglycerol activates protein kinase C (PKC) and the Ras/MAPK pathways, and also contributes to mast cell degranulation and mediator production.

1.3.2 C-Kit Signaling

The c-Kit receptor and its ligand, stem cell factor (SCF), mediate vital functions in the development of various cell types. The transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase c-Kit (CD117) is expressed in hematopoietic progenitors, but also in mature intestinal and mast cells. SCF stimulation of c-Kit-expressing cells inhibits apoptosis, and promotes proliferation, migration and differentiation (Roskoski, 2005). Mutations that cause constitutive activation of c-Kit receptor signaling may give rise to a spectrum of hyper-proliferative and cancer disorders in humans. For example, the D816V c-Kit mutation in mast cells results in systemic mastocytosis and the associated risk of severe anaphylaxis (Jensen et al., 2008a; Orfao et al., 2007; Sundstrom et al., 2003). Gastrointestinal and other types of tumors are often caused by gain-of-function mutations of c-Kit as well (Bellone et al., 2001; Hirota et al., 1998). Additionally, tumors that secrete SCF can recruit mast cells, which then modify the tumor microenvironment to facilitate cancer progression (Huang et al., 2008). Expression of c-Kit and SCF proteins is also elevated in the lungs of asthmatics, where activation of c-Kit by SCF increases the number of mast cells and

their pro-inflammatory functions (Al-Muhsen et al., 2004; Da Silva et al., 2006). Various tyrosine kinase inhibitor drugs, such as Imatinib, have been used to downregulate aberrant c-Kit signaling in cancer and mast cell-mediated inflammation (Attoub et al., 2002; Jensen et al., 2008b; Kajiguchi et al., 2008; Stahtea et al., 2007).

The c-Kit receptor comprises an extracellular SCF-binding domain, one transmembrane domain, and a split cytoplasmic tyrosine kinase domain (Roskoski, 2005). When the ligand SCF is bound by the extracellular immunoglobulin-like loops, c-Kit dimerizes and transphosphorylates its own juxtamembrane tyrosine 568/570 residues (Tyr-567/569 in mouse isoforms) (Blume-Jensen et al., 1991). This recruits the SFKs Lyn and Fyn to further phosphorylate activating tyrosine residues on c-Kit, which then serve as docking sites for Src homology 2 (SH2) domain-containing proteins. Activated c-Kit recruits and phosphorylates downstream signaling proteins that mediate various mast cell responses (Figure 1.3). Many of the components involved in FcεR1 signaling are also activated by the c-Kit receptor, including SFKs, PI3K, PLCγ and MAPKs (Orfao et al., 2007).

The PI3K pathway is ubiquitously expressed in most tissue types and controls crucial cell functions, while its dysregulation facilitates many common types of cancer (Liu et al., 2009). In mast cells PI3Ks promote growth factor-mediated survival throughout the life of the cells. SCF-mediated phosphorylation of c-Kit receptor tyrosine 721 (mouse Tyr-719) leads to the binding of class 1A PI3K p85

subunits directly and via adaptor proteins (Kim et al., 2008b). Activated receptorproximal SFKs phosphorylate the p85 to activate its bound catalytic p110 subunit. Various heterodimers of PI3K enzyme are capable of phosphorylating phosphoinositide molecules in the plasma membrane to produce PIP₃ secondary messengers. Pleckstrin homology domain-containing signaling proteins, including PLCγ and Akt, are recruited and activated at the membrane. Akt, also known as protein kinase B, activates a multitude of downstream signaling cascades which promote mast cell degranulation, cytokine secretion, migration and proliferation (Ali et al., 2004).

C-Kit can directly phosphorylate LAT2 (NTAL) scaffolding protein, and also recruit Lyn and Syk tyrosine kinases to the receptor complex (Iwaki et al., 2005). The LAT2 adaptor protein recruits PI3Ks to activate the Akt and PLCγ pathways. Similarly to Ag/FccR1 signaling, Fyn kinase phosphorylates the p110δ subunit of PI3K, which together with LAT2 play a crucial role in the enhancement of mast cell degranulation by SCF. The p110δ subunit is also required for antigen-triggered anaphylaxis in mice (Ali et al., 2004). The magnitude of degranulation and cytokine release is regulated via changes in calcium concentrations within mast cells. Initial FccR1 receptor activation leads to PLCγ-mediated production of inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate and diacylglycerol secondary messengers, which trigger the rapid release of calcium stores from the endoplasmic reticulum to induce mast cell degranulation. In the later phase of mast cell activation, the PI3K pathway activates Bruton's tyrosine kinase (Btk) which helps maintain the influx of external calcium (Iwaki et al., 2005; Tkaczyk

et al., 2003). Mast cell PI3Ks also activate the mTOR pathway and the c-Jun Nterminal kinases (Jnk) to promote synthesis of cytokines (Ishizuka et al., 1999; Kim et al., 2008a; Kim et al., 2008b). C-Kit/SCF signaling causes strong and lasting PI3K/Akt pathway activation, which leads to the synergistic enhancement of Ag/FcεR1-mediated secretory responses (Gilfillan et al., 2009).

The extracellular signal regulated kinase (Erk) and Jnk also play crucial roles in immune cell activation and the pathogenesis of asthma. Both Erk and Jnk MAPKs regulate transcription factors for T cell differentiation and the production of Th2 cytokines in allergies (Dong et al., 1998; Pelaia et al., 2005; Yamashita et al., 1999). In mast cells, the adaptor protein Grb2 (growth factor receptor-bound protein 2) binds to phosphorylated c-Kit and activates the Ras guanine nucleotide exchange factor (SOS) and downstream Erk and p38 MAPKs (Thommes et al., 1999). The c-Kit associated SFKs also activate Gab2 (Grb2-associated-binding protein 2) and the downstream Jnk pathway (Timokhina et al., 1998).

1.3.3 Mast Cell Migration

The trafficking and recruitment of mast cells is an important step in the inflammatory response of specific tissue sites. Mast cells express a variety of receptors for chemokines and extracellular matrix proteins, which mediate mast cell chemotaxis. Integrin signaling shares similar components with immune receptor and cytokine signaling pathways, and it also aids in mast cell recruitment to sites of inflammation (Abonia et al., 2006; Meininger et al., 1992; Nilsson et al., 1996; Ra et al., 1994; Tan

et al., 2003). In human asthma, the accumulation of activated mast cells facilitates chronic symptoms of the disease, including mucous obstruction. Animal studies demonstrate that the pathologic increase in the number of mast cells within antigenchallenged tissues is relatively rapid, and is unlikely to be due to the proliferation of basal resident progenitors (Ikeda et al., 2003). Very few mast cells are found within the lungs of healthy individuals. There is evidence that tissue remodeling in chronic inflammation promotes the secretion of stem cell factor (SCF), a key mast cell chemoattractant that helps recruit and activate more mast cells (Hogaboam et al., 1998). Antigen stimulation of the FccR1 pathway also induces the production of cytokines, enhances mast cell migration, and synergizes with other chemoattractants (Ishizuka et al., 2001b; Jolly et al., 2004; Rosen and Goetzl 2005).

Numerous *in vitro* assays and animal models have been utilized to elucidate the molecular signaling mechanisms directing the recruitment of mast cells under different conditions (Kim et al., 2008a; Samayawardhena et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 1998). Mast cell pathways involved in the production of inflammatory mediators can also regulate their migration. The MAPK p38 is involved in antigen and SCF-mediated mast cell chemotaxis (Craig and Greer, 2002; Samayawardhena et al., 2006). The Src family kinases Lyn and Fyn facilitate integrin signaling and mast cell migration through the extracellular matrix (Samayawardhena et al., 2007; Suzuki et al., 1998). The binding of mast cells to fibronectin enhances their inflammatory responses (Ra et al., 1994). Both the PI3K and Rac pathways also promote SCF-and fibronectin-mediated mast cell migration (Tan et al., 2003). Many chemotactic

stimuli converge on mast cells to regulate intracellular calcium signaling and cytoskeletal rearrangements, which are required for the directed movement of these cells (Shimizu et al., 2009; Suzuki et al., 1998; Tan et al., 2003).

1.4 Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases

Many vital cell functions such as growth, survival, migration and signaling require the phosphorylation of proteins to alter their catalytic or structural properties. In this posttranslational modification specific serine, threonine, and tyrosine residues receive covalently bound phosphates on their hydroxyl groups. The energy and the phosphate for this reversible reaction are derived from ATP, and it is catalyzed by kinases, while the reverse removal of phosphates is carried out by phosphatases. A small subgroup of all protein kinases is capable of phosphorylating tyrosine residues, nonetheless their functions are crucial for human health. As described earlier, Src family protein tyrosine kinases (SFKs) such as Lyn and Fyn mediate the complex regulation of signaling by immune receptors and growth factor receptors, like FccR1 and c-Kit, respectively. Since SFKs regulate division, migration and survival of various cell types, they can also drive the pathogenesis of human cancers (Furumoto et al., 2005; Hong et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2009; Samayawardhena et al., 2007). The Src homology domain 2 recognizes and binds phosphotyrosine domains of membrane proteins, recruiting the catalytic activity of SFKs to activate downstream signaling cascades for important cell functions. Phosphorylation of many SFK substrates is tightly regulated, and often requires timely inactivation and reversal by protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs). As a result, numerous PTPs

operate as tumor suppressors and immune regulators, and together with SFKs are attractive drug targets (Barr, 2010).

Close to 100 human PTPs have been identified and classified into family groups based on structural features and catalytic specificity (Alonso et al., 2004; Andersen et al., 2001; Soulsby and Bennett, 2009; Tonks, 2006). Most classes of PTPs utilize a cysteine nucleophile to catalyze the transfer of phosphates, except for the Eyes absent (EyA) protein phosphatases, which utilize a catalytic aspartic acid residue (Rayapureddi et al., 2003). Class I cysteine-based PTPs are divided into the group of classical tyrosine-specific phosphatases, and a group of dual-specificity phosphatases that also recognize serine and threonine substrates (Figure 1.4). The 38 classical tyrosine-specific PTPs comprise receptor-like, transmembrane proteins such as CD45, PTP α , PTP ϵ , and LAR as well as the cytoplasmic nonreceptor subgroup containing PTP1B, SHP1 and SHP2, PTP-PEST and others (Akimoto et al., 2009; Alonso et al., 2004). The dual specificity phosphatases are generally subdivided into Slingshot, phosphatase of regenerating liver (PRL), CDC14, PTENlike and myotubularin, and mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatases (MKPs) (Patterson et al., 2009; Pulido and Hooft van Huijsduijnen, 2008).

A single small protein called low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase (LMPTP) comprises class II of cysteine-based PTPs. It is encoded by the highly conserved *ACP1* human gene, which shares homology with bacterial tyrosine phosphatases. Variants of ACP1 with lower enzymatic activity are associated with
the development of atopic allergies and other diseases (Bottini et al., 2007). The class III cysteine-based PTPs (CDC25A, CDC25B and CDC25C) evolved to regulate cell cycle progression in human cells. They dephosphorylate N-terminal threonine-tyrosine motifs of cyclin-dependent kinases to induce mitosis (Aressy and Ducommun, 2008).

The PTP CD45 is expressed in various leukocytes, where it modulates immune receptor signaling (Grochowy et al., 2009; Saunders and Johnson, 2010). CD45 is required for T cell receptor signaling, and in mast cells facilitates activation via the FccR1 receptor. CD45 can dephosphorylate tyrosine residues on Src family kinases as well as other PTPs (Maksumova et al., 2007; Ostergaard et al., 1989). The Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatases (SHP1 and SHP2) are also important regulators of mast cell responses in asthma and anaphylaxis (McPherson et al., 2009; Nakata et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2010). Increased expression of PRLs is linked to metastatic progression in various human cancers (Bessette et al., 2008). MKPs are important negative regulators of MAPK signaling during cell activation, apoptosis, and migration (Pelaia et al., 2005). Taken as a whole, human PTPs are a functionally diverse group of enzymes, which regulate signal transduction during homeostasis and disease.

1.4.1 PTP-Alpha

Receptor-type protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTPα) was identified in mouse brain by screening cDNA for homologs of the CD45 phosphatase domain (Kaplan et

al., 1990; Matthews et al., 1990; Sap et al., 1990). It is encoded by the *PTPRA* gene on human chromosome 20 and expressed as a heavily glycosylated transmembrane protein (Daum et al., 1994; Rao et al., 1992). More recently, the expression pattern and substrate specificity of two PTP α splice variants were characterized (Kapp et al., 2007). The smaller isoform of PTP α is ubiquitously expressed. The other isoform is larger due to the inclusion of 9 extra amino acids in the extracellular domain, and is more prominent in the brain, muscles, and fat tissue. The main enzymatic function of PTP α is to dephosphorylate the inhibitory C-terminal tyrosine residues of Src family kinases (Zheng et al., 1992). The biological effects of PTP α are diverse and include the regulation of cell cycle, tumorigenesis, neuronal differentiation, integrin and insulin receptor signaling, ion channel activity, cell adhesion and chemotaxis, and activation of T cells and mast cells (Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009; Maksumova et al., 2005; Pallen, 2003; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Wang et al., 2009).

The extracellular domain of the mature PTP α protein (both isoforms at 130 kDa) is shorter than that of most other receptor-like class I PTPs and carries N- and Olinked glycosylation, similar to the related receptor-like PTP ϵ (Daum et al., 1994; Nakamura et al., 1996). No ligand has been identified for the extracellular domain of PTP α , yet it is required for complex formation with neuronal GPI-anchored receptor contactin in developing neurons (Zeng et al., 1999), suggesting a co-receptor function. Additionally, the extracellular domain was recently shown to mediate PTP α induced transformation of fibroblasts and anchorage-independent growth (Tremper-

Wells et al., 2010). Similarly to other receptor-like PTPs, the cytoplasmic portion of PTP α carries two tandem phosphatase domains with different catalytic abilities. The membrane-proximal D1 domain of PTP α carries out all the main catalytic functions, while the D2 domain cannot dephosphorylate tyrosines, but is still enzymatically active with small synthetic phosphotyrosyl mimetic substrates (Lim et al., 1997; Wang and Pallen, 1991). The conservation of non-catalytic D2 domains in receptor PTPs suggests that they may function in regulating the formation of protein complexes in the absence of phosphotyrosine binding (Pallen, 2003). These membrane distal domains of PTPs have been shown to interact with adaptor proteins of NMDA receptors, calmodulin, as well as partner D1 domain within PTP α dimers (Bilwes et al., 1996; Lei et al., 2002; Liang et al., 2000).

1.4.2 Activation of Src Family Kinases

One of the earliest experiments examining the physiological functions of PTP α established it as an important regulator of oncogenic cell transformation. Overexpression of PTP α results in the dephosphorylation of the inhibitory C-terminal Tyr-527 of Src, activating the kinase and inducing cell transformation (Zheng et al., 1992). Purified PTP α can also dephosphorylate and activate Src in *in vitro* assays. PTP α expressed in embryonal carcinoma P19 cells dephosphorylated Src Tyr-527, resulting in differentiation into neuronal cells upon stimulation with retinoic acid (den Hertog et al., 1993). Other SFKs, such as Fyn, are also regulated by PTP α to induce various cell responses (Bhandari et al., 1998; Maksumova et al., 2007; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Wang et al., 2009). PTP α -mediated

dephosphorylation of the C-terminal tyrosine of Fyn opens the SH2 domain of Fyn and potently increases its kinase activity (Bhandari et al., 1998).

In the absence of cell stimulation several mechanisms maintain SFKs in an inactive state. As mentioned earlier, the loss of regulation of SFK activity promotes aberrant downstream signaling cascades, and the pathogenesis of cancer, chronic inflammation and other diseases (Hendriks et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2009). Under suppressive conditions intramolecular interactions block the Src tyrosine kinase domain from interacting with substrates. The phosphorylated C-terminal tyrosine 527 of Src is bound by its SH2 domain, while the region between the kinase and SH2 domain interacts with the SH3 domain (Bjorge et al., 2000; Xu et al., 1997). PTP α interacts with Src to bring the Tyr-527 into the phosphatase D1 domain, where it becomes dephosphorylated. The opened kinase domain of Src can phosphorylate its own Tyr-416, promoting full tyrosine kinase activation.

1.4.3 Phosphorylation and Regulation of PTPα

PTPα itself can also be a substrate of Src and other kinases. In various cell lines PTPα is phosphorylated in its C-terminal region on tyrosine 789. Src phosphorylates PTPα at Tyr-789, which is also a binding site for the SH2 domain of adaptor protein Grb2 (den Hertog et al., 1994). Phosphorylation of tyrosine 789 on PTPα does not inhibit its catalytic activity. There are conflicting reports on whether PTPα Tyr-789 phosphorylation is required for the binding of the Src-SH2 domain to induce Src Tyr-527 dephosphorylation and Src catalytic activity. In mitosis, dephosphorylation of

PTPα membrane-proximal serine residues was instead shown to play much bigger role in the binding and activation of Src. Furthermore, the non-phosphorylatable Y789F mutant of PTPα was still able to bind Src in an SH2-independent manner (Vacaru and den Hertog, 2010). In other studies phosphoTyr-789 of PTPα was shown to promote the activation of Src-induced cell transformation (Zheng et al., 2000). Little is known about the functions of PTPα Tyr-789 in immune cell regulation. During T cell receptor activation, another protein tyrosine phosphatase, CD45, directly dephosphorylates Tyr-789 of PTPα to regulate Fyn and Cbp signalling (Maksumova et al., 2007).

Similarly to various membrane tyrosine kinases and phosphatases, PTP α is capable of dimerization. In a crystal structure of the PTP α D1 domain, a membrane proximal helix-turn-helix structure inserts into the catalytic cleft of partner D1 domain, blocking the site to substrates (Bilwes et al., 1996). Such dimerization is enhanced by multiple structural interactions, and was proposed as a negative regulatory mechanism of PTP α activity. Evidence from FRET techniques shows constitutive PTP α dimerization in living cells that requires its transmembrane domain (Tertoolen et al., 2001). However, not all PTP α homodimer interactions inhibit phosphatase activity at physiological concentrations of PTP α . Oxidative stress also promotes the inhibitory dimerization of PTP α , requiring the catalytic cysteine of its D2 domain (Groen et al., 2008).

In various cell types PTP α activity and Tyr-789 phosphorylation can also be inhibited by reactive oxygen species (Hao et al., 2006). This effect is independent of the major SFKs, but inhibited by serine/threonine protein phosphatase 1. Small oxidizing molecules produced by antigen-challenged mast cells were reported to regulate the catalytic domain of PTP α and other tyrosine phosphatases (Heneberg and Draber, 2005). Taken together, PTP α is involved in a complex network of protein interactions and chemical modifications that modulate the activity of Src family kinases and adaptor proteins to regulate crucial functions of multiple cell types (Figure 1.5).

1.4.4 Biological Functions of PTPα

PTPα knockout (KO) mice have been successfully bred in our lab and others', and do not exhibit any gross anatomical abnormalities. Thus the lack of PTPα activity does not disrupt embryonic development (Ponniah et al., 1999; Su et al., 1999). Recent studies revealed effects of PTPα on important responses of specific cell types in the neural and immune systems and connective tissues. PTPα was originally identified as a tyrosine phosphatase that is highly expressed in the brain, and was later shown to regulate neural cell functions. Interestingly, work from our lab has shown that PTPα is required for the activation of Fyn tyrosine kinase signaling to induce the differentiation of oligodendrocytes and myelination (Wang et al., 2009). Activation of SFKs by PTPα plays an important role in synaptic transmission. PTPα-KO mice showed reduced phosphorylation of NMDA receptors in the brain, and defects in the associated memory and learning functions (Le et al., 2006; Lei et al., 2002; Petrone et al., 2003; Skelton et al., 2003). Activation of the m1 muscarinic

acetylcholine receptor induces PTP α to dephosphorylate tyrosine residues on the potassium ion channel K_v1.2 that inhibits electrochemical signal transmission. In the process PTP α becomes phosphorylated by PKC-dependent signaling (Tsai et al., 1999). Therefore, PTP α may be a key modulator of human neuromolecular processes.

SFKs are also closely involved in receptor-mediated cell migration, which is a crucial component in the recruitment of immune cells and metastasis. Various cell types can be recruited by gradients of chemoattractants with the aid of extracellular matrix proteins bound by integrin receptors. The PTPα substrates, Src and Fyn, regulate the fibronectin-induced cytoskeletal rearrangements and migration of fibroblasts (Su et al., 1999; Zeng et al., 2003). Cells lacking PTP α exhibit reduced activation of the focal adhesion kinase FAK and defective haplotaxis. PTPa was shown to regulate integrin-proximal signaling events to activate SFKs and FAK that in turn induce the phosphorylation of PTPα Tyr-789, which is required for the formation of focal adhesions, actin reassembly and cell migration. This process also depends on the catalytic activities of Src and PTP α (Chen et al., 2006). Additional research in our lab has revealed that insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) also stimulates PTP α Tyr-789 phosphorylation that promotes chemotaxis (Chen et al., 2009). In fibroblast and neuroblastoma cells IGF-1 receptor signaling activates the tyrosine kinase c-Abl to phosphorylate PTP α and induce migration (Khanna, 2011).

1.4.5 PTPα in Mast Cell Activation

As described earlier, the recruitment of mast cells into mucosal and vascular tissues is implicated in the pathogenesis of allergic asthma and several types of cancer. Stem cell factor (SCF) serves as a crucial chemoattractant and growth factor for mast cells. In the absence of antigen and IgE, PTP α positively regulates SCFinduced receptor c-Kit phosphorylation and downstream signaling events. PTP α -KO BMMCs exhibited defective migration towards SCF, spreading and polarization, compared to WT cells. PTP α was required for optimal activation of the c-Kitassociated tyrosine kinase Fyn, and downstream activation of the Rac/Jnk and MAPK pathways. This may contribute to the decreased homing of mast cells to hypodermis and submucosa in PTP α -KO mice, but increased numbers in the peritoneum (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008).

Furthermore, recent data from our lab demonstrated a negative regulatory role for PTP α in antigen-induced mast cell activation and secretory responses (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Degranulation and mediator release were enhanced in PTP α -KO BMMCs relative to WT cells. In the absence of PTP α , activating phosphorylation of Fc ϵ R1, Lyn and Fyn were reduced, whereas Syk, Hck, Akt and MAPK activities were increased. PTP α -KO mice sensitized with IgE and challenged with antigen displayed increased passive cutaneous anaphylaxis and serum histamine levels. The closely related receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon (PTP ϵ) was also recently shown to negatively regulate Fc ϵ R1 responses (Akimoto et al., 2009). PTP ϵ -null BMMCs treated with antigen showed

increased phosphorylation of Syk, but not Lyn tyrosine kinase, and hyperactivation of downstream MAPK and calcium signaling. Loss of PTP ϵ activity resulted in enhanced BMMC degranulation and release of cytokines, but not of leukotrienes. Other studies demonstrate that antigen is also chemotactic to mast cells (Ishizuka et al., 2001b; Kitaura et al., 2005). Under pathologic conditions mast cells are costimulated with SCF and antigen, which has been shown to synergistically enhance their recruitment and secretory responses (Al-Muhsen et al., 2004; Columbo et al., 1992; Iwaki et al., 2005; Kuehn et al., 2010). However, the role of PTP α in the integrated c-Kit/Fc ϵ R1 signaling that regulates their migration and activation has not been investigated (Figure 1.6).

1.5 Hypothesis

The aberrant mast cell processes described earlier are implicated in the development of allergic diseases and cancer, and are regulated by several Src family kinases. PTP α was shown to differentially affect SFK-mediated mast cell migration to SCF and secretory responses to antigen. I hypothesize that the balance of positive regulatory fuctions of PTP α in c-Kit signaling, and its observed negative regulation of FccR1 signaling, combine to control the extent of Ag/SCF-induced synergistic mast cell responses. The following experimental aims will address the specific aspects of my hypothesis utilizing mast cells derived from the bone marrow of PTP α -deficient mice.

- Aim 1. Investigate the effect of PTPα on synergistic mast cell degranulation and cytokine release in response to co-treatment with antigen and SCF.
- Aim 2. Determine whether PTPα also regulates antigen-mediated mast cell chemotaxis in the presence or absence of SCF.
- Aim 3. Identify the crucial effector proteins of PTPα and their activation in integrated c-Kit/FcεR1 signaling.



Figure 1.1. Allergens induce Th2 immunity and mast cell responses. Small protein allergens pass through the lung epithelium and are processed by antigen-presenting cells. T cells are activated via antigen presentation, develop into Th2 cells and promote IgE production by B cells. IgE binds to Fc receptors on mast cells, and becomes crosslinked by more allergen molecules, activating mast cells. Cytokines produced in inflamed connective tissues, such as SCF, recruit mast cells and other leukocytes. Allergen triggers mast cells to degranulate and secrete an array of pro-inflammatory molecules. Mast cell mediators promote various allergic symptoms, tissue remodeling, recruitment and activation of leukocytes, and defend against different types of infection and parasites.



Figure 1.2. Antigen induces FccR1 signaling cascades and multiple mast cell responses.

Schematic representation of key positive regulators and signaling events. Lyn phosphorylates receptor ITAMs and recruits other tyrosine kinases, which together further phosphorylate scaffold proteins, LAT and NTAL. Adaptor proteins recruit and activate the Ras/MAPK, PI3K/Akt, PLCγ and calcium signaling cascades. Arrows indicate the direction of signaling, leading to rapid mast cell degranulation, release of cytokines, and antigen-induced chemotaxis. See list of abbreviations for full protein names.



Figure 1.3. SCF induces receptor c-Kit dimerization and activation of signaling cascades. Schematic representation of key positive regulators and signaling events. C-Kit autophosphorylates

several tyrosine residues, which become docking sites of adaptor proteins (human c-Kit residue numbering shown). The PI3K, MAPKs, and PLCγ pathways promote cell survival, migration, and enhancement of antigen-induced secretory responses.



Figure 1.4. The superfamily of protein tyrosine phosphatases. Examples of proteins from the four subclasses of PTPs are represented schematically. Class I cysteine-based PTPs are subdivided into classical (receptor-like and intracellular) and dual-specificity PTPs. Others include class II Cys-based low molecular weight (LMW) PTP, class III Cys-based Cdc25 PTPs, and Asp-based EyA PTPs. Domain structures are abbreviated: D1 and D2, membrane-proximal and membrane-distal receptor PTP domains; FN, fibronectin-like; Ig, immunoglobulin-like; SH2, Src homology domain 2; PEST, rich in proline, glutamic acid, serine, and threonine; CAAX, prenylation sequence; CH2, Cdc25 homology domain 2; C2, protein kinase C conserved region 2; Eya D2, conserved domain 2 of EyA PTPs.



Figure 1.5. Regulation of Src family kinases (SFKs) by protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTP α). SFKs such as Src remain inactive due to intramolecular interactions between the inhibitory phosphoTyr-527 and the SH2 domain, and between the SH3 domain and the region connecting the protein tyrosine kinase domain (PTK) to the SH2 domain. PTP α can dephosphorylate Tyr-527 of Src (green arrow), and interact with SH2 domain via phosphoTyr-789 of PTP α . Disruption of intramolecular interactions of Src allows its catalytic domain to autophosphorylate Tyr-416 to become fully active tyrosine kinase. SFKs mediate the activation of signaling pathways, and can promote the phosphorylation of PTP α Tyr-789 (red arrows). Various motifs of PTP α have been shown to interact (right side) with Grb2 and contactin, dephosphorylate non-SFK substrates such as potassium K_v channels, become inhibited by reactive oxygen species (e.g. H2O2), and become phosphorylated on regulatory serine residues.



Figure 1.6. PTP α in the integrated c-Kit and FccR1 signaling cascades. PTP α was previously shown to negatively regulate antigen-induced FccR1 signaling, including Akt and MAPKs, down-regulating mast cell degranulation and secretion of cytokines. In the absence of IgE, PTP α promoted SCF-induced c-Kit signaling and cell migration. Co-stimulation of both c-Kit and FccR1 receptors induces synergistic activation of PLC γ and MAPKs and enhanced migration and secretory responses. The SFKs involved in both pathways are also substrates of PTP α .

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Mast Cell Culture

Primary mast cells were derived from the bone marrows of $PTP\alpha^{-/-}$ (Ponniah et al., 1999) and PTP $\alpha^{+/+}$ C57BL/6 mice. The animals were housed in a pathogen-free environment at the CFRI Animal Care Facility. Animal care and use followed the approved guidelines of the University of British Columbia and the Canadian Council on Animal Care. At 4-8 weeks of age, sex-matched pairs of mice were killed using isoflurane gas and cervical dislocation. Their femurs were removed and flushed for bone marrow using a 25G needle and 15 ml BMMC medium consisting of Iscove's modified Dulbecco's media (Gibco), 2% of 10x concentrated WEHI-conditioned mouse IL-3 media (from UBC Biomedical Research Facility), 10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum (Gibco), 3 µl thioglycerol (Sigma) per 500 ml media, 1% pyruvatesodium (Sigma), 1% non-essential amino acids (Sigma), and 1% PenStrep (Sigma). The flushed material was transferred onto 10 cm culture plates and maintained in suspension in an incubator at 37°C with a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO₂. The culture media and the plates were replaced twice a week. After 3 weeks, when no adherent cells remained, mast cell progenitors were cultured in 100 ml culture flasks at 1.0-1.5 x10⁶ cells/ml, and 80-90% of the media was replaced twice a week. After 5 weeks, BMMC purity and maturity were confirmed by FACS analysis (see section 2.9), while cell lysates were tested for expression of PTP α , c-Kit, and Akt by immunoblotting (see section 2.6). Cultures with insufficient purity of mast cells

often expressed much lower levels of Akt and c-Kit, and were discarted. BMMC cultures between 6 and 8 weeks of age were used for stimulations.

2.2 Antibodies

The antibodies used in these studies were purchased from the following companies: anti-Akt, phospho-Ser473-Akt, phospho-Erk1/2, phospho-JNK, phospho-p38, phospho-Tyr416-Src, Lyn, phospho-Tyr507-Lyn, c-Kit, and phospho-Tyr719-c-Kit (all from Cell Signaling Technology, Denvers, MA); phosphotyrosine-4G10, FcεR1β, and FccR1y (Upstate Biotechnology, Lake Placid, NY); phospho-Tyr567/569-c-Kit (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), anti-DNP IgE and β -actin (Sigma-Aldrich, St.Louis, MO); rabbit anti-phospho-Tyr783-PLCy1 (Invitrogen-Biosource, Camarillo, CA); rat anti-mouse CD16/32 and PE-conjugated rat anti-mouse c-Kit (Caltag Laboratories, Burlingame, CA); FITC-conjugated rat anti-mouse FccR1-a (eBioscience, San Diego, CA), FITC rat anti-mouse-IgE (BD Pharmigen, Mississauga, ON). Anti-PTP α and phospho-Tyr789-PTP α polyclonal antibodies were described previously (Lim et al., 1998, Chen et al., 2006). Horseradish peroxidaseconjugated goat secondary antibodies against rabbit and mouse IgG were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, St.Louis, MO. Protein-A HRP conjugate (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) was used to probe some immunoprecipitation samples to minimize the appearance of denatured immunoglobulin chains.

2.3 IgE Sensitization of Cultured BMMCs

2.3.1 Old (Standard) Method of IgE Sensitization

This standard method was used as described by Samayawardhena and Pallen (2010). Mature BMMCs (obtained after 6-8 weeks of culture, as described in section 2.1) were transferred into starvation media (BMMC media lacking IL-3) at 2.0 x10⁶ cells/ml. Mouse anti-DNP IgE (SPE-7 clone, Sigma) was added at 200 ng/ml. After 16 hr incubation the cells were washed once with starvation media and resuspended in the appropriate buffer or media and used for experimentation as described below.

2.3.2 New (Prolonged) Method of IgE Sensitization

In order to achieve strong and consistent IgE-mediated mast cell responses, particularly degranulation, the following 'New' method of IgE sensitization was utilized for all BMMC stimulation experiments unless otherwise stated. Firstly, BMMCs (2.0 x10⁶ cells/ml) were incubated overnight in fresh BMMC media containing IL-3, and in the presence of 200 ng/ml anti-DNP IgE. After 16 hours the cells were transferred into starvation media containing 200 ng/ml anti-DNP IgE, and incubated for a further 6-8 hr. The cells were pelleted by gentle centrifugation and washed once with pre-warmed media prior to stimulation.

2.4 Stimulation of BMMCs

IgE-sensitized BMMCs (described in section 2.3.2) were resuspended at 5.0 x10⁶ cells/ml in pre-warmed 37^oC Tyrode's buffer (10 mM Hepes pH 7.4, 130 mM NaCl, 5 mM KCl, 1.4 mM CaCl, 1 mM MgCl, 0.1% glucose, 0.1% BSA) and equilibrated in

 37° C water bath for 10 min. A small volume of Tyrode's buffer, carrying antigen (DNP-HSA, Sigma) and/or recombinant murine SCF (PeproTech Inc), was mixed in to achieve the specified concentrations. Stimulation was stopped at various time points by adding an equal volume of stop solution (ice-cold PBS with 0.1 mM Na₃VO₄). Cells were pelleted by centrifugation, washed once with stop solution and solubilized in lysis buffer as described in section 2.5.

2.5 Cell Lysis and Immunoprecipitation

For direct immunoblotting of cell lysates, the cell pellet was solubilized for 20 min in ice cold lysis buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 1mM EDTA, 1mM Na₃VO₄, 1mM NaF, 100 μ M PMSF, 10 μ g/ml aprotinin and leupeptin). Cell debris was pelleted after centrifugation at 4°C for 20 min and discarded. The concentrations of protein in the lysate supernatants were determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay according to the manufacturer's manual (Bio-Rad). After adding 2X SDS sample buffer, samples were boiled for 10min and resolved by SDS-PAGE.

For the immunoprecipitation of membrane proteins, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.05% SDS were added to the lysis buffer. The lysate supernatants were then precleared with 20 μ l Protein A/G agarose beads (Santa Cruz) for 60 min by rotation at 4°C. After gentle centifugation to remove the beads, the pre-cleared samples were diluted with lysis buffer to a concentration of 200 μ g protein in 500 μ l lysis buffer. The appropriate immunoprecipitation antibody (2 μ l) and 20 μ l of Protein A/G beads were added and mixed by rotation overnight at 4°C. The protein-bound beads were collected by gentle centifugation and washed 3 times with 1 ml cold lysis buffer. The beads were resuspended in 45 µl of 2X SDS sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The immunoprecipitation samples were then resolved by SDS-PAGE.

2.6 Immunoblotting

Polyacrylamide gels (7.5-15%, 1mm thickness) were loaded with protein samples and electrophoresed at 100 V for 90 min. The resolved proteins were transferred onto a polyvinylidene fluoride membrane for 70 min at 100 V. The membrane was blocked for 60 min with 3% BSA in PBST (PBS containing 0.1% Tween-20), before overnight incubation at 4°C with primary antibodies diluted in 3% BSA/PBST. Excess primary antibody was removed by washing the membrane 3 times in PBST (10 min/wash). The membrane was incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody in PBST for 60 min, and washed again 3 times with PBST. Following a 2 min incubation with the enhanced chemiluminescence reagent, the membranes were exposed to film. The films were scanned and saved as grayscale image files for densitometric quantification.

2.7 Degranulation Assay

Mature BMMCs were IgE sensitized and stimulated with antigen and/or SCF for 15 min in 37°C Tyrode's buffer, and then cooled on ice for 5 min. Cells were pelleted by gentle centifugation at 4°C to obtain the supernatant containing degranulation secretions. Equal volumes of Tyrode's buffer with 0.5% Triton X-100 detergent were added to solubilize the cell pellet. Aliquots (50 μL) of both the degranulation

supernatants and pellet fractions were separately loaded in duplicate onto 96-well flat-bottom plates, containing 40 µl of 4-nitrophenyl N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminide solution (β -hexosaminidase substrate, at 3 mM in 0.1 M sodium citrate pH 4.5, Sigma). After 20 min incubation at 37°C the reaction was stopped with 50 µl of sodium carbonate (0.2 M, pH 10). The β -hexosaminidase reaction product was quantified from absorbance plate readings at 405 nm, using the cell-free buffers as a blank. Degranulation in each sample was determined as the percent of absorbance in the secretion supernatant over total absorbance from the supernatant and pellet fractions.

2.8 Cytokine Secretion and ELISA

Mature BMMCs were IgE sensitized and cytokine starved as previously described in section 2.3.2. After sensitization, 1×10^6 cells were washed once with starvation media and resuspended in 0.5 ml on 24-well plates. The media for cytokine stimulation contained 0.8% WEHI conditioned media ($1/25^{th}$ of the concentration of IL-3 in BMMC culture media). Each 0.5 ml of plated cell suspension, containing the specified concentrations of antigen (DNP-HSA) and/or mouse SCF, was put in a humidified cell culture incubator with 5% CO₂ at 37°C for 15 hours. At the end of the incubation, the cells were pelleted by gentle centrifugation. The obtained supernatants were either immediately tested for specific cytokines by ELISA, or frozen at 80°C for later analysis.

ELISA protocols were carried out according to the product manuals for detection of mouse TNF-α (R&D Systems) and IL-13 (Invitrogen). For IL-13 ELISA, samples were first mixed and incubated with an extraction buffer, but not for TNF-α detection. The supernatants were diluted with sample buffer up to 10 fold. Equal volumes of diluted samples and standards were incubated in duplicate in antibody-coated wells for 2 hr at room temperature. The wells were washed 4 times with diluted wash buffer and tapped dry. HRP-conjugated antibody was added, incubated for another 2 hr, and then washed away. A chromogenic tetramethylbenzidine solution was added to each well and incubated in the dark for 30 min. After adding a stop solution (diluted HCI) the optical densities of each sample were measured at 450 nm. Standard cytokine concentrations were plotted against their corresponding absorbances to derive the best-fit curve equation. The cytokine concentration of the standard curve.

2.9 FACS Analysis

To assess the purity and maturity of cultured WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs, 2x10⁶ cells cells from 5 week-old cultures were first blocked with anti-CD16/32 antibody in 100 μ L PBS containing 2% serum. Cells were then washed and stained with PEconjugated anti-c-Kit and FITC-conjugated anti-FccR1 α antibodies in the dark for 30 min. BMMCs were analyzed using a BD FACS Calibur flow cytometer. Singlestained and unstained control cells were used to adjust compensation and particle gating. The percentage of BMMCs that stained for c-Kit and FccR1 α was determined from 20,000 counts. To assess the binding of IgE to WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs FITC-conjugated rat anti-mouse-IgE antibody was used instead of anti-FcεR1α.

2.10 Transwell Migration

2.10.1 Migration Index Determination

Migration experiments were conducted using 3.0 μ m pore-sized polycarbonate membrane Transwell inserts (Corning Cat. #3415). To assess BMMC migration through an uncoated membrane, the Transwell inserts were put into 24-well plates containing 500 μ l of migration media (Iscove's modified Dulbecco's media with 0.5% BSA) and the specified concentrations of antigen and SCF. IgE-sensitized WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs were washed once with migration media, and aliquotted into the centre of each Transwell insert at 4x10⁵ cells in 100 μ l migration media. The plate was kept in a 37°C humidified cell culture incubator for 3 hours. Cells that migrated into the lower chamber were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in a volume of 50 μ l for counting. The total number of BMMCs that had migrated into the lower chamber was calculated from the average number of cells counted using a hemocytometer. The final migration index was determined as the percentage of total cells loaded that migrated into the lower chamber.

2.10.2 Adherent Cell Analysis

The ability of mast cells to migrate through fibronectin-coated Transwell inserts was also assessed. For these experiments the bottom side of Transwell membranes was coated with 20 μ M fibronectin (Millipore) in PBS for 2 hr at 37°C. The membrane

insert bottoms were rinsed with PBS and the inserts were used for migration experiments as described in section 2.10.1. In addition to determining the migration of BMMCs through the fibronectin-coated membranes to the bottom chamber, the number of BMMCs that had passed through the pores but remained attached to the fibronectin-coated membrane was also determined. After 3 hours of migration, the remaining cells inside the Transwell insert were removed by suction, and the insert washed with PBS. Adherent cells were fixed with glacial methanol for 20 min and stained with Giemsa solution (KaryoMAX Giemsa Stock, Gibco) for 1 hr. The membrane was washed in PBS, and its upper surface was gently wiped with cotton swabs to remove any cells. The membrane was excised and mounted on a glass slide with the fibronectin-coated side facing up. For each membrane mounted, five images (200x magnification) were taken using an Olympus DP72 camera on a Zeiss-Ax10 microscope. The number of adherent BMMCs in each image (covering a 0.911 mm² area on the membrane) was counted to determine the average cell density for each migration condition.

2.11 Statistical Data Analysis

Immunoblot protein bands were scanned and densitometrically quantified using Quantity One software (Bio-Rad). Protein phosphorylation was determined by calculating the ratio of densitometric units of phosphorylated to total protein bands. Some phosphorylation signals were normalized against total β -actin on parallel loaded gels. All bar graphs show the mean \pm S.D. unless otherwise stated. Statistical *p* values were calculated using the Student's t-test.

Chapter 3: Role of PTPα in SCF-Enhanced Secretory Responses of Mast Cells

3.1 Rationale

Exposure to polyvalent antigens crosslinks FccR1 receptors and triggers a rapid release of preformed mast cell granules, which occupy a large portion of the mast cell cytoplasm (Blank, 2011). Within minutes of this degranulation process, active pro-inflammatory mediators, including histamine, proteoglycans, serine proteases, cytokines, prostaglandins, and leukotrienes accumulate at the site. At a later phase of their activation, mast cells secrete an array of newly synthesized cytokines and growth factors, which contribute to prolonging the overall inflammatory response (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Gilfillan et al., 2011; Kitaura et al., 2000).

Various small molecules and cytokines have been shown to strongly influence the magnitude and the type of bioactive mediators released (Gilfillan et al., 2009). The functions of the main mast cell growth factor SCF have been extensively studied. Lung tissues of asthmatic patients show higher levels of SCF in addition to serum IgE (AI-Muhsen et al., 2004; Da Silva et al., 2006). SCF can directly promote migration, growth, and survival of mast cells and enhance their pro-inflammatory responses. SCF exposure can synergistically increase *in vitro* antigen/IgE mediated mast cell degranulation and cytokine production to levels several-fold higher than with antigen alone (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Gilfillan et al., 2009; Vosseller et al., 1997). Since previous work in our lab has shown that PTPα is a positive regulator of

SCF/c-Kit activation (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008) as well as a negative regulator of Ag/Fc ϵ R1 responses in BMMCs (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010), I investigated the role of PTP α in regulating the synergistic mediator release induced by co-stimulation of these receptors.

3.2 Mast Cell Synergistic Degranulation

To investigate the role of PTPα in SCF-enhanced early secretory responses of mast cells, antigen-triggered degranulation was first examined. Following previously established IgE sensitization protocols, mature BMMCs were incubated overnight in starvation media (lacking IL-3) with added IgE (described in Methods section 2.3.1) (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). After washing off excess IgE, the cells were incubated in Tyrode's buffer and stimulated with a range of antigen (DNP-HSA) doses for 15 min. After cooling on ice, supernatant containing mast cell secretions was collected by centrifugation, and the cell pellet was lysed. The degranulation supernatants and cell pellet fractions were assayed for β -hexosaminidase enzymatic activity (a component of mast cell granules) to determine the percentage of this enzyme that was released due to antigen stimulation. However, my initial antigenmediated degranulation experiments showed that over 90% of the total β hexosaminidase activity still remained in the cell pellet fraction, indicating a total degranulation of less than 10% for WT BMMCs. Since the typically reported values for degranulation with 10 ng/ml antigen range from 20-40% (Bischoff and Dahinden 1992; Columbo et al., 1992; Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004; Kuehn et al., 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Vosseller et al., 1997), these initial results were

clearly abnormal. To assess whether the intrinsic degranulation ability of the BMMCs was intact, cells were also stimulated with the calcium ionophore A23187 (Sigma-Aldrich), which bypasses receptor-mediated signalling to directly induce calcium influx that triggers degranulation. In this case, 500 nM of A23187 induced over 30% degranulation, as evidenced by the decrease in β -hexosaminidase product absorbance in the pellet fraction and the corresponding increase in the secretion supernatant fraction. Thus the observed weak response to antigen was not due to defects in the inherent degranulation ability of the mast cells used.

Antigen-stimulated lysates were also immunoblotted for global protein tyrosine phosphorylation (4G10 Ab) as well as for Erk1/2 MAPK activation. In both cases there was a clear induction of protein phosphorylation in Ag-stimulated samples compared to unstimulated controls (data not shown, see Chapter 4 for signalling analysis). Therefore, FccR1 pathway activation was being triggered by antigen to some extent. Attempts to increase IgE dosage or shorten the IL-3 starvation period had little effect, as the degranulation responses to the same Ag doses still varied between 5-15%, which is much lower than commonly reported for WT BMMCs.

Several recent reports indicate that IgE functions as more than a mere linker between antigen and the FccR1 receptor, as it can also greatly affect the physiology of mast cells in the absence of any antigen. Prolonged exposure to monomeric IgE molecules alone promotes mast cell survival, activation, and chemotaxis (Ekoff et al., 2007; Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Kawakami and Kitaura, 2005; Sly et al., 2008),

as well as enhancement of the surface expression of FccR1 receptor and mediator release (Hsu and MacGlashan, 1996; Lantz et al., 1997; Yamaguchi et al., 1997). This raised the possibility that perhaps the weak degranulation response to antigen was due to insufficient IgE binding and overall BMMC sensitization. To test this hypothesis I first tried sensitizing the cells in a fresh aliquot of normal growth media containing IL-3 for 16 hr with 200 ng/ml IgE (see Methods section 2.3), while maintaining the required 8 hr pre-stimulation IL-3 starvation period. Thus cells were exposed to IgE for close to 24 hours, with the last 8 hours in IL-3-free media.

This protocol resulted in a dramatic increase in Ag-mediated BMMC degranulation, particularly at the lower dose of 1.0 ng/ml of the antigen DNP-HSA. Figure 3.1A shows the effects of the 'Old' and 'New' (prolonged) sensitization methods on the degranulation of WT and PTP α -KO cells from side-by-side cultures that were stimulated with antigen at the same time. Negligible degranulation (~2%) was detected in unstimulated, control BMMCs that had been sensitized with either method. The 'New' method of prolonged sensitization more than tripled the amount of β -hexosaminidase released upon stimulation with 1 ng/ml Ag, as compared to the 'Old' method. At 100 ng/ml Ag, degranulation was only slightly increased by longer sensitization, likely due to inhibition of signaling by supraoptimal Ag concentrations (Fehrenbach et al., 2009). Furthermore, the new protocol greatly improved the overall consistency between degranulation experiments. In contrast, using the 'Old' sensitization protocol, I observed that the relatively low magnitude of WT BMMC degranulation with 10 ng/ml Ag varied between 5-15% in most experiments.

Surprisingly, PTPα-KO and WT BMMCs exhibited nearly identical degranulation responses with either sensitization protocol, which contradicts previous findings from our lab (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Earlier work by my colleague has demonstrated that BMMCs lacking PTPα produce significantly enhanced degranulation and cytokine release in response to antigen. In my hands, WT BMMCs exhibited a similar Ag degranulation dose curve to published reports, with optimal 40% degranulation at 10 ng/ml Ag and a sharp decrease with 100 ng/ml Ag (Fig.3.1A) (Bischoff and Dahinden, 1992; Columbo et al., 1992; Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004; Kuehn et al., 2008; Vosseller et al., 1997). This suggests that the 'New' IgE sensitization protocol did not fundamentally alter how mast cells respond to antigen. Since mast cells are continuously exposed to IgE and various cytokines i*n vivo*, my experimental methods attempt to more closely simulate those conditions.

I next examined the ability of murine SCF to enhance the Ag-mediated degranulation response in WT and PTPα-KO cells with the 'New' sensitization protocol. Figure 3.1B shows that simultaneous addition of 10 or 100 ng/ml SCF and 10 ng/ml Ag to the cells synergistically enhanced the degranulation of WT BMMCs (p<0.001), with a maximal observed degranulation of 65%. With the supraoptimal 100 ng/ml Ag dose, additional SCF also enhanced degranulation in a dose-dependent matter, comparable to previous reports (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Gilfillan et al., 2009; Vosseller et al., 1997). PTPα-KO BMMCs showed levels of SCF-enhanced degranulation very similar to WT cells under all the conditions tested.

Since BMMCs that lack proteins that negatively regulate FccR1 receptor signalling, such as Lyn and SHIP, can degranulate in response to SCF alone (Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004; Huber et al., 1998), and since PTP α is also reported to inhibit Ag/FccR1 secretory responses (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010), I tested the response of PTP α -KO BMMCs to various doses of SCF alone. Figure 3.1B demonstrates that even 100 ng/ml SCF induced minimal degranulation of PTP α -KO BMMCs. Likewise, no significant degranulation was observed with 500 ng/ml SCF (data not shown). Thus unlike the situation with BMMCs lacking Lyn or SHIP inhibitory functions, the absence of PTP α does not alter c-Kit mediated signalling in a way that results in significant mast cell degranulation.

3.3 Synergistic Release of Cytokines

While the degranulation assay measures the early Ag-mediated secretory response of mast cells, prolonged stimulation promotes secretion of an array of potent proinflammatory cytokines that can modify immune responses. Co-stimulation of additional mast cell receptors, such as c-Kit, has been shown to synergistically boost cytokine secretion *in vitro* (Columbo et al., 1992; Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Gilfillan et al., 2009). Therefore, PTPα-KO and WT BMMCs were tested for the secretion of the cytokines TNFα and IL-13 that are linked to chronic allergic inflammation (Babu et al., 2011; Broide et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2010). BMMCs that had been IgE sensitized using both 'New' and 'Old' methods were stimulated with various combinations of Ag and SCF, and 15 hours later the media supernatants were

collected and assayed by ELISA. Figure 3.2 shows the ELISA assay results from such an experiment. Secretion of both TNF α (Fig.3.2A) and IL-13 (Fig.3.2B) was greatly enhanced by SCF co-stimulation, even in cells sensitized with the 'Old' method, while Ag or SCF alone at 100 ng/ml induced much weaker cytokine release than the combined stimuli. Optimal secretion of IL-13 and TNF α was triggered by a combination of 10 ng/ml Ag and 100 ng/ml SCF, which was also optimal for inducing the degranulation of BMMCs (Fig. 3.1B). Other combinations of Ag and SCF doses were tested for their ability to stimulate IL-6 production, yet no significant differences between WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs were observed (data not shown). Taken together, my results indicate that the absence of PTP α from BMMCs does not significantly affect antigen and/or SCF-mediated secretion of cytokines.

3.4 Analysis of Surface Binding of IgE to BMMCs

The lack of previously observed differences in Ag-induced responses between WT and PTP α -KO cells may be caused by the unequal binding of IgE to the different cell types. A lower cell surface density of IgE molecules in BMMCs lacking PTP α could compensate for their stronger Fc ϵ R1 signalling activation potential. Figure 3.3 shows a representative FACS analysis of BMMCs sensitized with the 'New' method and stained with anti-IgE and anti-c-Kit antibody probes. On average about 97% of the population of both cell types showed high levels of c-Kit and IgE staining, suggesting that WT and PTP α KO BMMCs do not differ in surface IgE binding with the new sensitization protocol.

3.5 Discussion

Mast cell secretory responses play important roles in health and disease. During the early infection of mucosal sites, mast cell-derived TNFα promotes optimal activation of antigen-presenting cells to direct proper T-cell responses (Abraham and St. John 2010; Laichalk et al., 1996; McLachlan et al., 2003). Animal studies show that IL-6 produced by mast cells is crucial for resistance to bacterial infections (Sutherland et al., 2008). Mast cell mediators, such as IL-4 and IL-13, promote mucous secretion and facilitate the elimination of helminth parasites (Scales et al., 2007). Depending on their environment and stimuli, mast cells can negatively modulate immune responses. Certain natural toxins, insect bites, and ultraviolet radiation stimulate mast cells to produce the immune-suppressive cytokine IL-10 (Kalesnikoff and Galli 2008). Interestingly, both mast cells and regulatory T-cells are required for peripheral tolerance of skin allografts (Lu et al., 2006). Since mast cell products may also promote angiogenesis and cell growth, they have recently been implicated in the regulation of cancer metastasis (Groot Kormelink et al., 2009; Maltby et al., 2009; Nechushtan, 2010).

Not surprisingly, these potent mast cell-secreted mediators play important roles in autoimmune and allergic disorders. In anaphylaxis, strong activation of IgE/FccR1 on mast cells triggers rapid secretion of vasodilators and pro-inflammatory cytokines, which can lead to life-threatening shock (Metcalfe et al., 2009; Moneret-Vautrin et al., 2005). In allergic asthma, mast cell mediators promote many of the acute and chronic symptoms of this disease (Broide et al., 2011; Da Silva et al., 2006; Holgate,

2008; Moiseeva and Bradding, 2011). Therefore, a better understanding of the mechanisms that regulate mast cell activation may reveal new insights into the pathogenesis of many immune disorders. PTPα-regulated Src family kinases are involved in immune receptor signalling pathways, in addition to cell migration (Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009; Maksumova et al., 2005; Pallen, 2003; Wang et al., 2009). Therefore, previous work in our lab has examined the role of PTPα in mast cell activation via the c-Kit and FccR1 receptors. PTPα-KO BMMCs have been shown to have defective SCF-driven chemotaxis, while antigen/IgE stimulation resulted in elevated degranulation and cytokine production (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010).

To investigate the role of PTP α in mast cell responses in a situation that more closely approximates physiological conditions (i.e. more than one factor regulating mast cell activation), I examined the effect of PTP α in synergistic responses from the co-stimulation of c-Kit and FccR1 receptors. Initially, my antigen stimulation experiments resulted in sub-optimal BMMC degranulation responses. Based on recent literature reports on the functions of IgE, I devised a modified BMMC sensitization protocol, which added a pre-incubation step with IgE before IL-3 starvation. This new method produced much more consistent results and a typical antigen dose-response curve for WT BMMCs. However, PTP α -KO cells displayed nearly identical extent of degranulation to WT BMMCs, with no evidence of the hyperdegranulation previously detected in our lab (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). The magnitude of SCF-enhanced degranulation was also similar between

both PTPa genotypes of BMMCs. I further examined the secretion of the mast cell cytokines TNFα and IL-13 upon stimulation with various dose combinations of antigen and SCF. Once again, no significant differences were observed between WT and PTPa-KO mast cell secretory responses. To try to determine why my data differed from previous results in my lab, I used FACS analysis to measure IgE binding to PTPα-WT and KO BMMCs. Both cell populations showed comparable IgE staining intensities, suggesting equal sensitization with the 'New' protocol. I also tried to find any methodological differences between my experimental techniques and those of my previous lab co-worker that may explain our varying results. Several PTPα-KO and WT BMMCs that I had cultured were stimulated with antigen by my co-worker, but none of the phenotypic differences previously established in our lab were observed. This raises the possibility that changes in the cultured BMMCs may have instead altered their intrinsic responsiveness to antigen. Taken together, my data show that PTP α neither regulates antigen mediated secretion nor its enhancement by SCF.



Figure 3.1 SCF enhances antigen-mediated degranulation. (A) Cells from the same WT and PTP α -KO BMMC cultures were sensitized using 'Old' or 'New' methods (as described in section 2.3), stimulated with the indicated doses of antigen (ng/ml DNP-HSA) for 15 min and assayed for degranulation (as described in section 2.7). Results of a single experiment are shown. (B) WT and KO BMMCs were sensitized with IgE (using 'New' method) and stimulated with the indicated doses of Ag or murine SCF, or the combination of both added simultaneously. The graphs show the mean \pm S.D. from 4-5 independent experiments. For conditions with 100 ng/ml SCF the means of 2 independent experiments are shown.




Figure 3.2 SCF-enhanced cytokine secretion. Cells from the same WT and PTP α -KO BMMC cultures were sensitized using the 'Old' or 'New' methods (as described in section 2.3). Cells were incubated in low IL-3 media with the indicated doses of antigen or murine SCF or with both simultaneously for 15 hours (as described in section 2.8). Secretion media supernatants were assayed by ELISA for (A) TNF α and (B) IL-13. The data shown are from a single overnight stimulation experiment.



Figure 3.3 BMMC surface presentations of IgE and c-Kit after prolonged sensitization protocol. WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs were cultured for 5 weeks and were IgE sensitized using the 'New' protocol (as described in section 2.3). Cells were stained with PE-conjugated anti-c-Kit and FITC-conjugated anti-IgE antibodies and analyzed by flow cytometry. Particle size gating and signal compensation were evenly applied. Similar results were obtained from two independent experiments involving different BMMC cultures.

Chapter 4: Role of PTPα in Integrated c-Kit/FcεR1 Signaling

4.1 Rationale

Mast cells are capable of initiating and modifying immune responses that underlie various human diseases. In allergic asthma elevated levels of serum IgE are linked to the overabundance and hyperactivation of mast cells (Brown et al., 2008; Gilfillan et al., 2011; Holgate, 2008). The assortment of inflammatory mediators released by mast cells drives many allergic symptoms. Much effort has been focused on elucidating the mechanisms of antigen and IgE signaling via the receptor FccR1 that triggers secretory responses of mast cells. Src family kinases have been shown to regulate key early events of the FccR1 receptor activation and recruitment of scaffolding and adaptor proteins linked to downstream signaling cascades (Furumoto et al., 2005; Gilfillan and Rivera, 2009; Poderycki et al., 2010; Xiao et al., 2005). Other mast cell signaling pathways that respond to cytokines also play important roles in modulating mast cell responses. The growth factor SCF promotes the survival and development of several immune cell progenitors, as well as the tissue recruitment of mature mast cells (Bischoff and Dahinden, 1992; Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Gilfillan et al., 2009; Vosseller et al., 1997). SCF stimulates the dimerization of the receptor tyrosine kinase c-Kit, which activates the PI3K and MAPK cascades that are also involved in Ag/FccR1 signaling. As a result, SCF increases the activation of key antigen signaling intermediates, leading to the synergistic enhancement of mast cell degranulation and cytokine release. Increased

levels of SCF in tissues promote the recruitment of mast cells, resulting in worsened allergic symptoms (Al-Muhsen et al., 2004; Da Silva et al., 2006; Moiseeva and Bradding, 2011).

Our lab has previously studied the role of PTP α in SCF-driven mast cell migration, and its regulated cell spreading and polarization (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008). PTP α -KO BMMCs displayed defective activation of Fyn tyrosine kinase, phosphorylation of c-Kit motifs, and reduced activation of the Rac/Jnk pathway, which promotes cell migration in response to SCF. PTP α was also shown to differentially regulate antigen-induced mast cell secretory responses. This was in part due to PTP α -mediated activation of the negative regulator Lyn and inhibition of PI3K and MAPK pathways (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Since PTP α positively regulates c-Kit, and negatively regulates Fc ϵ R1 signaling, I investigated the role of PTP α in the activation of crucial signaling proteins involved in integrated Fc ϵ R1/c-Kit signaling, which controls the synergistic release of mast cell mediators.

4.2 Global Tyrosine Phosphorylation

The newly established IgE sensitization protocol was used to assess the global protein tyrosine phosphorylation in BMMCs stimulated with combinations of antigen and SCF for various times. Treatment for 2 minutes with antigen was sufficient to activate the FccR1 pathway, and was chosen as the earliest time point to examine mast cell signaling events. The 5 min time point was used, because it is the peak of c-Kit-mediated phosphorylation of Akt (described in section 4.4). At 15 min, the

antigen-induced global tyrosine phosphorylation and the activation of MAPKs was previously observed to diminish to near-baseline levels (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Therefore, 2 min, 5 min, and 15 min time points after stimulation were used to examine the activation of key signaling proteins. The left panel in Figure 4.1A shows the timecourse of protein tyrosine phosphorylation in WT and PTP α -KO cells that were treated with 100 ng/ml antigen (DNP-HSA) alone. WT BMMC activation peaked at 2 min and was slightly decreased by 5 min, and then declined to control levels by 15 min. Global tyrosine phosphorylation in PTP α -KO BMMCs appeared very similar to the levels in WT cells. A previous study from my lab showed that antigen-triggered global tyrosine phosphorylation peaked at 1.5 min, decreasing to minimal levels by 5 min, and appeared slightly enhanced in PTP α -KO BMMCs (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). In contrast, in my experiments, Agmediated protein tyrosine phosphorylation remained strong by 5 min, and was not visibly affected by PTP α .

Other BMMCs from the same cultures were stimulated simultaneously with antigen and SCF. The right panel in Figure 4.1A shows that protein tyrosine phosphorylation of WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs is markedly enhanced by the addition of SCF, relative to cells treated only with antigen. At 15 min of stimulation, tyrosine phosphorylation did not appear to diminish for most proteins seen, and was especially strong for proteins of about unidentified 150 kDa (Fig.4.1A, arrow) that had little tyrosine phosphorylation with antigen alone. This SCF-enhanced activation of signaling pathways agrees well with its effect of boosting mast cell secretory responses, and

was not significantly altered in BMMCs lacking PTPα. To further elucidate the role of PTPα in c-Kit/ FcεR1 integrated signaling, specific downstream pathways were examined.

4.3 Antigen Treatment Induces the Dephosphorylation of PTPα Tyrosine 789

PTP α is an important regulator of Src family kinases (SFKs) through dephosphorylation of key tyrosine residues. PTP α can itself become a substrate of SFKs *in vivo*. Overexpression of Src in human embryonic kidney 293 cells increases the phosphorylation of PTP α at tyrosine 789 in its C-terminal region, creating a binding site for the Grb2 adaptor protein (den Hertog et al., 1994). Recent evidence suggests that PTP α Tyr-789 may regulate receptor-mediated cell migration. In fibronectin-stimulated fibroblasts PTP α becomes phosphorylated at Tyr-789, which activates SFKs and promotes migration (Chen et al., 2006). However, no reports that examined PTP α Tyr-789 phosphorylation in activated mast cells have been published.

I used a polyclonal antibody against phosphoTyr-789 of PTPα, produced in our lab (Chen et al., 2006), to probe lysates from Ag-stimulated BMMCs. Unstimulated (control) cells showed considerable phosphorylation of PTPα Tyr-789. Within 2 minutes of antigen treatment, constitutive PTPα phosphorylation decreased by close to 70%, and remained low for up to 15 min (Figure 4.1B). Stimulation with SCF alone for 5 min induced lesser (~ 25%) Tyr-789 dephosphorylation, and ~40% dephosphorylation was observed after 5 min treatment with a combination of antigen

and SCF (Figure 4.1C). No phospho-Tyr-789 signal was observed in PTP α -KO samples. These data confirm that PTP α is involved in Fc ϵ R1 signalling, though the function of PTP α phospho-Tyr-789 in mast cells is as yet unknown.

4.4 PI3K/Akt Pathway

The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway is central to the control of cell functions such as survival and differentiation in response to various external stimuli. In mast cells, SCF/c-Kit stimulation activates the PI3K/Akt pathway, which leads to the synergistic enhancement of Ag/FccR1-mediated secretory responses (Gilfillan et al., 2009; Iwaki et al., 2005). To determine the role of PTP α in the induction of PI3K signaling during BMMC co-stimulation with antigen and SCF, cell lysates were immunoprobed for the activated phosphoSer-473 form of Akt at three time points. The top panel in Figure 4.2A shows Akt phosphorylation after treatment for 2 min, where the graphs on the right depict AKT phosphorylation normalized to Akt amount, averaged from several experiments. At the early 2 min time point, only SCF alone induced readily detectable Akt phosphorylation, which appeared somewhat higher in PTP α -KO BMMCs, though this difference was not statistically significant. The BMMCs challenged with 100 ng/ml antigen alone exhibited much weaker Akt phosphorylation at all time points than that induced by SCF treatment, and indeed only faint bands were visible after maximal exposure (data not shown). Figures 4.2B and 4.2C show AKT phosphorylation at 5 and 15 min time points. The timecourse of Akt phosphorylation in response to SCF alone, and to the combination of antigen

and SCF, are illustrated in Figure 4.2D. Phospho-Akt bands were strongest after 5 min of treatment with SCF.

Interestingly, the presence of antigen as a co-stimulus with SCF nearly completely abolished the early Akt phosphorylation at 2 min (Fig 4.2A). Despite this inhibition, antigen and SCF together induced increasing Akt phosphorylation between 5 and 15 min, whereas Akt phosphorylation decreased during this period of treatment with SCF alone (Fig 4.2D). A similar phenomenon has been reported by others, and shown to require the inhibitory activity of the Src family kinase Lyn to reduce Akt phosphorylation (Iwaki et al., 2005). No significant differences in Akt activation were observed between WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs after 5 min SCF stimulation. After 15 min stimulation, there was a significant reduction in phosphorylation was reduced in PTP α -KO BMMCs by nearly 25% relative to WT cells, and the addition of antigen further reduced Akt phosphorylation in both cell types. Therefore, both Ag/FccR1 signalling and the absence of PTP α appear to independently inhibit the SCF/c-Kit-induced activation of PI3K signaling to Akt.

4.5 PLC_{γ1} Activation

In mast cells, cytokines and immune receptors activate phospholipase C gamma 1 (PLCγ1) signalling, which promotes an increase in intracellular calcium to initiate gene transcription, mediator release, and cell migration (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Kuehn et al., 2008; Nishida et al., 2005; Oka et al., 2004; Parravicini et al., 2002;

Sanchez-Miranda et al., 2010). While SCF stimulation alone is not capable of triggering degranulation in WT mast cells, it has been shown to boost antigeninduced secretory responses via enhanced activation of PLCγ signaling (Gilfillan et al., 2009).

My next goal was to determine for the first time the effect of PTP α in Ag- and/or SCF-induced activation of PLCy1. Figure 4.3 shows the phosphorylation of PLCy1 after 2, 5, and 15 min of BMMC stimulation. Using a phospho-specific antibody against Tyr-783 of PLCy1, the phosphorylation of PLCy1 in stimulated BMMC lysates was normalized to total β -actin (right panels). Actin was also used as a measure of total protein loading for the quantification of PLCy1 and MAPK phosphorylation (following sections), due to less consistent protein bands seen after re-probing membranes that had been stripped of phospho-antibodies. At 2 min and 5 min time points, treatment with Ag, or Ag plus SCF, induced prominent phosphorylation of PLCy1 (Figure 4.3A and B). The level of phosphorylation induced by SCF alone appeared similar to untreated controls. After 2 min, PLCy1 phosphorylation in response to Ag alone or to the combination of Ag and SCF began to diminish (Figure 4.3D). Co-treatment with antigen and SCF induced much greater PLCy1 activation than with either stimulus alone (Figure 4.3 A-C). Similar responses were observed between WT and PTP α -KO cells stimulated with SCF alone, or with Ag and SCF combined. Most notably, at all three time points PLCy1 phosphorylation in antigen-challenged PTP α -KO BMMCs was nearly double that in WT cells. A similar synergy of antigen and SCF in the activation of PLCy1 has previously been

reported (Iwaki et al., 2005). My data show that PTP α negatively regulates antigeninduced PLC γ 1 signaling, but has no effect on its SCF-enhanced activation.

4.6 p38 Activation

The mitogen activated protein kinases (MAPKs), such as p38, mediate both secretion and migration of mast cells in response to diverse stimuli (Craig and Greer, 2002; Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Ishizuka et al., 2001a; Iwaki et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2006). It has been previously demonstrated that activation of p38 is differentially regulated by PTPa in mast cells. SCF stimulation of PTPa-KO BMMCs produced lower MAPK phosphorylation than WT cells, whereas Ag-mediated MAPK phosphorylation was enhanced in the absence of $PTP\alpha$ (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Therefore, the effects of PTP α on p38 phosphorylation in BMMCs co-stimulated with antigen and SCF was investigated. Figures 4.4A and 4.4B show that all three stimuli induce early p38 phosphorylation. Very similar levels of p38 phosphorylation were produced after 2 and 5 min stimulation with Ag, SCF, and Ag plus SCF. Surprisingly, at all the timepoints examined, Ag-induced p38 activation was not higher in PTP α -KO BMMCs compared to WT cells (Fig. 4.4A-D), in contrast to a previous finding in our lab (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Indeed, after 15 min of antigen and SCF costimulation, p38 activation was consistently reduced by 30% in PTPα-KO cells (p<0.01), and this was the only significant difference observed (Fig.4.4C). The synergistic enhancement of p38 phosphorylation after prolonged co-stimulation of WT BMMCs was previously reported (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Iwaki et al., 2005).

My results demonstrate that PTP α positively regulates synergistic p38 activation after 15 min of Ag/SCF co-stimulation, but not with any other treatment tested.

4.7 Erk and Jnk Activation

The pro-inflammatory responses of mast cells to antigen or cytokines require sustained activation of other MAPK-mediated signaling cascades, namely involving the MAPKs Erk and Jnk (Chayama et al., 2001; Ishizuka et al., 1999; Lorentz et al., 2003; McPherson et al., 2009; Shivakrupa and Linnekin, 2005; Timokhina et al., 1998; Wong et al., 2006). PTP α has been shown to promote the SCF-induced activating phosphorylation of Erk and Jnk proteins, but to inhibit their antigeninduced activation (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Therefore, I investigated the role of PTP α in the phosphorylation of Erk and Jnk isoforms in BMMCs stimulated with antigen and/or SCF after 2, 5, and 15 min. Figure 4.5A shows representative blots of early (2 min, left panel) and late (15 min, right panel) Erk and Jnk phosphorylation. The phosphorylation levels after 5 min were intermediate to those at 2 min and 15 min time points (data not shown). Erk and Jnk phosphorylation after 2 min treatment with Ag, SCF, or Ag and SCF appeared similar, and was absent in unstimulated control cells (Fig. 4.5, left panel; quantification data not shown). After 15 min of antigen stimulation, the phosphorylation of Erk and Jnk had diminished greatly (Fig.4.5, right panel). Cotreatment with SCF considerably enhanced the phosphorylation of Erk and Jnk after 15 min (Fig 4.5A, right panel), and in accord with previous reports of the synergistic effects of prolonged c-Kit and $Fc\epsilon R1$ stimulation on the activation of Erk, Jnk, and

p38 MAPKs (Fehrenbach et al., 2009; Iwaki et al., 2005). However, at all time points and in all the conditions tested, the phospho-Erk and phospho-Jnk signals did not exhibit any significant differences for WT and PTP α -KO cells, as was confirmed by densitometric quantification (data not shown). Similar to p38 activation, the absence of PTP α did not have any apparent effect on antigen-induced Jnk and Erk phosphorylation, in contrast to a previous report (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Therefore, I found no evidence of PTP α regulating Erk and Jnk MAPKs with either method of mast cell stimulation examined.

4.8 c-Kit Receptor Phosphorylation

SCF/c-Kit signalling is important for the development, migration, and activation of mast cells. (Bellone et al., 2001; Da Silva et al., 2006; Gilfillan et al., 2009; Okayama and Kawakami, 2006). As shown earlier, stimulation with SCF greatly enhances mast cell secretory responses. Additionally, previous work in our lab has shown that in the absence of IgE, SCF-stimulated PTPα-KO BMMCs exhibit lower Fyn kinase activation and c-Kit phosphorylation, with decreased Rac/Jnk pathway activation, resulting in defective mast cell chemotaxis (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008). I further investigated whether PTPα also positively regulates SCF/c-Kit receptor phosphorylation upon Ag/ FcεR1 co-stimulation, which has been shown to modulate mast cell migration and secretory responses (Bischoff and Dahinden, 1992; Columbo et al., 1992; Ishizuka et al., 2001a; Kuehn et al., 2010; Sawada et al., 2005). IgE-sensitized WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs were stimulated with antigen, SCF, or antigen and SCF for various times. The cell lysates were immunoprobed for the

phosphorylation of key c-Kit residues, Tyr-567/569 and Tyr-719, as well as for total c-Kit protein.

Figure 4.5B shows the c-Kit phosphorylation at 2 min and 15 min time points. C-Kit phosphorylation after a 5 min treatment was also examined, and looked very similar to the response after 15 min (data not shown). No phospho-c-Kit signals were observed in untreated and antigen-challenged BMMCs after 2 min or 15 min. Treatment with SCF alone produced strong phosphorylation at both c-Kit sites, and this lasted up to 15 min. Interestingly, I observed that Ag/FccR1 co-stimulation strongly inhibits SCF-induced c-Kit phosphorylation. After 2 min, co-treatment with antigen nearly completely abolished SCF-induced c-Kit Tyr-567/569 phosphorylation in WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs (Fig 4.2B, left panel). This inhibitory effect was seen up to 15 min after stimulation. No significant difference in c-Kit phosphorylation between WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs was observed under all the conditions tested. After 15 min of treatment with antigen and SCF, the total detectable amounts of c-Kit protein were noticeably lower than in unstimulated controls, most likely due to receptor internalization and degradation (Fig 4.2B, bottom right panel). While antigen alone did not induce c-Kit phosphorylation, it also promoted a decrease in the total c-Kit protein after 15 min stimulation, although it was not as pronounced as the reduction induced by SCF alone or in combination with antigen. Overall, IgEsensitized PTPα-KO BMMCs showed equivalent c-Kit phosphorylation to WT cells, in response to SCF alone or in combination with antigen.

4.9 FccR1 Receptor Phosphorylation

Binding of IgE to polyvalent antigen molecules promotes FccR1 aggregation on mast cells and the activation of receptor-proximal Src family kinases, which phosphorylate immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) in the FccR1 β and γ subunits (Gilfillan and Rivera, 2009; Sanchez-Miranda et al., 2010; Xiao et al., 2005). The tyrosine kinase Syk binds to these ITAMs and activates downstream signalling proteins, triggering mast cell secretory responses and chemotaxis. Previous work in our lab demonstrated that PTP α regulates FccR1 signaling via key Src family kinases. Antigen-stimulated PTP α -KO BMMCs showed lower phosphorylation of FccR1 β and γ chains, despite exhibiting higher activation of downstream MAP kinase cascades and enhanced mediator release (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010).

Therefore, I investigated whether PTP α also regulates antigen-induced Fc ϵ R1 activation upon SCF co-stimulation. Since receptor phosphorylation is an early signalling event, occurring soon after antigen exposure, this was probed at only the 2 min time point in IgE sensitized WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs that had been stimulated with antigen alone, antigen plus SCF, or neither (control). Antibodies against the Fc ϵ R1 γ subunit were used to immunoprecipitate the receptor complex. Immunoprecipitates were first probed with anti-phosphotyrosine (4G10) antibodies, then the blots were stripped and reprobed for the Fc ϵ R1 β and γ subunits. Probing for phospho-Fc ϵ R1 γ produced very diffuse bands that could not be clearly compared (data not shown). However, phosphorylation of the co-immunoprecipitated Fc ϵ R1 β

polypeptide was readily detected in antigen-treated WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs (Fig. 4.6A, top panel). Addition of SCF to antigen considerably enhanced the Fc ϵ R1 β phosphorylation. The Fc ϵ R1 β antibody did not produce clear signals that could be accurately quantified (Fig. 4.6A, bottom panel). Despite this, the phospho-Fc ϵ R1 β signals appeared similar in stimulated WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs in three independent experiments. Given the observed lack of differences in the phosphorylation of Fc ϵ R1 β and the downstream secretory responses, I found no evidence of PTP α -regulated Fc ϵ R1 activation in my experiments.

4.10 Lyn Activation

The Src family kinase Lyn plays a complex role in the regulation of FccR1 signaling in mast cells (Gilfillan and Rivera, 2009). Upon antigen-mediated aggregation of FccR1, receptor-bound Lyn phosphorylates ITAMs and the downstream adaptor proteins LAT and NTAL. However, Lyn-deficient mice display enhanced anaphylactic responses, and hyperdegranulation of their mast cells in response to antigen, or even SCF alone (Hernandez-Hansen et al., 2004; Odom et al., 2004). Lyn kinase negatively regulates mast cell activation upon strong antigen stimulation, in part by targeting C-terminal Src kinase (Csk) to the membrane, where it phosphorylates the inhibitory C-terminal tyrosine residues of Src family kinases. The functions of Csk are antagonized by PTP α , which removes these inhibitory phosphorylations (Pallen, 2003). Given its ability to regulate Src family kinases, PTP α has been previously investigated in the antigen-mediated activation of Lyn. PTP α -KO BMMCs showed reduced phosphorylation of Lyn at the activating Tyr-396 site and reduced *in vitro*

kinase activity, which corresponded with higher degranulation and cytokine production in response to antigen (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). These results are in agreement with the negative regulatory functions of Lyn in response to BMMC stimulation with high doses of antigen.

To determine if Lyn was responsible for the observed lack of effect of PTPa depletion on secretory responses, I examined Lyn phosphorylation in WT and PTPa-KO BMMCs in response to antigen alone, or in combination with SCF. BMMCs were stimulated for 2 min and Lyn was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates. The immunoprecipitates were probed with anti-phosphoTyr-416-Src or anti-phosphoTyr-507-Lyn antibodies, which respectively recognize the activating Tyr-396 and the inhibitory Tyr-507 phosphorylation sites in Lyn. Total Lyn protein amount in each immunoprecipitation sample was probed after stripping off the phospho-antibodies, or from parallel blots. Typical Lyn immunoblots are shown in Figure 4.6B. In untreated WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs there was considerable Lyn phosphorylation at Tyr-396, which decreased upon stimulation with antigen, or antigen plus SCF. This was unexpected, since phosphorylation of Lyn Tyr-396 has been shown to increase with antigen stimulation (Hong et al., 2007; Poderycki et al., 2010; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). This phenomenon was observed in 4 separate experiments where samples were probed with different anti-phosphoTyr-416-Src antibody dilutions. When I tried IgE sensitizing the cells using the 'Old' method, identical Lyn dephosphorylation was observed (data not shown). Therefore, the abnormal phosphorylation of Lyn at Tyr-396 was not the result of the 'New' sensitization

protocol. Lyn immunoprecipitates were also probed for inhibitory phosphorylation at Tyr-507. Antigen treatment of WT and PTPα-KO cells produced no obvious changes in Lyn Tyr-507 phosphorylation (Fig 4.6B) relative to levels in unstimulated control cells. The similarly unchanged phosphorylation of Lyn after stimulation with antigen was also reported in a study examining the role of protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon in mast cell activation (Akimoto et al., 2009). Co-stimulation with antigen and SCF likewise did not appear to affect the phosphorylation of Lyn at Tyr-507. Taken together these data show that PTPα does not regulate Lyn activation in BMMCs stimulated with antigen alone or in combination with SCF, which is consistent with the PTPα-independent degranulation and cytokine production observed in my experiments.

4.11 Discussion

In this chapter I assessed the effect of PTP α deletion on the activation of key signaling proteins involved in integrated c-Kit/Fc ϵ R1 responses of mast cells. Antigen triggered global tyrosine phosphorylation appeared to be greatly enhanced and prolonged by the addition of SCF, as was the synergistic degranulation and cytokine release. Both WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs exhibited a similar timecourse of global tyrosine phosphorylation, in response to antigen alone, or in combination with SCF. This is in agreement with the observed lack of differences in secretory responses in the absence of PTP α .

For the first time, the phosphorylation of PTP α at tyrosine 789 was evaluated in activated mast cells. My data showed that antigen stimulation greatly reduced (by ~70%) the intrinsic phosphorylation of PTP α Tyr-789 of BMMCs over the course of 15 minutes. SCF alone produced little dephosphorylation of PTPα Tyr-789, while antigen combined with SCF induced an effect intermediate to those caused by each stimulus alone. To the best of my knowledge this is the first such result reported. Antigen treatment of mast cells produces small oxidizing molecules that regulate the activity of the catalytic domain of PTPa and other protein tyrosine phosphatases (Heneberg and Draber, 2005). This could potentially serve as a feedback loop mechanism for controlling Ag-mediated signalling through PTP α , possibly via reactive oxygen or nitrogen species produced in the process. Despite emerging findings in other cell types, the biological role of PTPa Tyr-789 in mast cells remains unknown. Overall, my findings indicate that PTPa negatively regulates antigeninduced phosphorylation of PLCy1, while positively regulating the phosphorylation of Akt and p38 upon prolonged co-stimulation with SCF and Ag. Table 4.1 summarizes key PTP α -dependent signaling alterations.

The effect of PTPa on the activation of PI3K/Akt pathway was evaluated. After 15 minutes SCF-stimulated PTPa-KO BMMCs exhibited a significant reduction in Akt phosphorylation, which was independent of antigen. This effect of PTPa is most likely mediated via the regulation of Src family kinases associated with the c-Kit receptor. Previously, mast cell PTPa was shown to not affect PI3K signalling upon SCF stimulation. The difference observed in my experiments could be caused by the

fact that all BMMC were first sensitized with IgE. While the PI3K pathway is not required for monomeric IgE-induced mast cell survival, it does promote actin assembly in the absence of antigen (Kohno et al., 2005; Oka et al., 2004). It is plausible that prolonged IgE sensitization may alter mast cell signalling responses to SCF.

SCF-mediated phosphorylation of the upstream c-Kit receptor was also unaffected by PTP α . This differs from previous results in our lab, where PTP α was shown to positively regulate c-Kit phosphorylation in BMMCs that had not been sensitized by IgE (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008). Co-stimulation with antigen was shown to severely inhibit SCF-induced phosphorylation of both c-Kit receptor and downstream Akt. No reports on the effects of concurrent Ag/FccR1 signalling on c-Kit receptor activation were found. The simultaneous activation of FccR1 may sequester tyrosine kinases required for proper SCF-induced c-Kit phosphorylation, or it may activate negative regulators. Despite being dephosphorylated upon antigen stimulation, PTP α does not appear to be involved in the Ag-induced inhibition of c-Kit phosphorylation. Taken together, my results show that PTP α positively regulates Akt activation after prolonged SCF stimulation, but has no effect on upstream c-Kit receptor phosphorylation in sensitized mast cells.

PLC γ 1 is an important activator of calcium signaling, involved in mast cell migration and secretory responses. At all 3 time points, the lack of PTP α nearly doubled the activating phosphorylation of PLC γ 1 in response to antigen. However, the increased

PLC γ 1 phosphorylation did not lead to the expected enhanced degranulation and cytokine release in PTP α -KO BMMCs. It is possible that other PTP α -regulated mechanisms compensate for increased PLC γ 1 activity during stimulation with antigen alone. Perhaps without PTP α , defective cytoskeletal rearrangement slows down granule exocytosis to a similar rate of that in WT BMMCs. The synergistic activation of PLC γ 1 by antigen and SCF co-stimulation was unaffected by the loss of PTP α , and was consistent with the observed synergistic degranulation and cytokine release. Thus, the increased phosphorylation of PLC γ 1 in PTP α -KO BMMCs during treatment with antigen alone (100 ng/ml) is eliminated when SCF (100 ng/ml) is added simultaneously. This could be due to a maximal possible phosphorylation of PLC γ 1 is already achieved in co-treated WT cells, given that such stimulus produces near-maximal degranulation (Fig. 3.1B). In the future it would be interesting to determine whether PLC γ 1-dependent calcium signaling and cytoskeletal rearrangements are affected by PTP α .

In contrast to previous data from our lab (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010), PTP α did not show any significant effect on the activation of MAPKs (p38, Erk and Jnk) induced by stimulation with either antigen or SCF alone. After 15 min co-treatment with both antigen and SCF, the synergistic activation of p38 was reduced by 30% in BMMCs lacking PTP α whereas no alterations in Erk and Jnk activation were detected. I also found no evidence of PTP α regulating Ag-induced activation of Lyn or Fc ϵ R1, which was previously reported in our lab (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). The basis for such variable

mast cell responses is unknown, but possible reasons are discussed in Chapter 6. My findings indicate that in synergistically activated mast cells, PTPα is only required for full activation of Akt and p38. Despite being dephosphorylated during stimulation, PTPα did not alter mast cell secretory responses.

Table 4.1. PTP α -dependent signaling alterations in BMMCs activated with antigen and SCF.

Signaling Molecule	Stimulus	Time	Effect of PTPα absence
pAkt	SCF Ag+SCF	15 min	~ 25% decrease
pPLCγ1	Ag	2, 5, 15 min	~ 2X increase
рр38	Ag+SCF	15 min	~ 30% decrease







Figure 4.2. Effects of treatment with antigen and SCF on Akt activation in WT and PTPa-KO BMMCs. The sensitized BMMCs were untreated (Control, C), or stimulated with 100 ng/ml antigen (Ag, DNP-HSA), 100 ng/ml SCF, or co-stimulated by simultaneous addition of antigen and SCF (Ag + SCF). The cells were harvested at 2 min (A), 5 min (B), and 15 min (C) after treatment, and the lysates were probed for phosphoSer-473 Akt (top panels) and, on parallel blots, for Akt (bottom panels). The Akt phosphorylation per unit Akt was determined by densitometric quantification of the blots from at least 4 independent experiments, and is shown in the graphs to the right as the mean \pm S.D., where Akt phosphorylation in WT BMMCs treated with SCF alone was arbitrarily taken as 1.0, and all other data are expressed relative to that. The asterisk indicates a significant difference (p<0.05) between WT and PTPa-KO samples for any one treatment. (D) The time-dependent stimulation of Akt phosphorylation was determined in response to SCF (left panels) and antigen plus SCF (right panels) as described above. The blots shown are representative of two experiments.



Figure 4.3. PTPα-KO BMMCs show enhanced activation of phospholipase C γ-1 upon

treatment with antigen. WT (PTP $\alpha^{+/+}$) and PTP α -KO (PTP $\alpha^{-/-}$) cells were untreated (Control, C), or stimulated with 100 ng/ml antigen (Ag, DNP-HSA), 100 ng/ml SCF, or co-stimulated by simultaneous addition of antigen and SCF (Ag + SCF). The cells were harvested at 2 min (A), 5 min (B), and 15 min (C) after treatment, and the lysates were probed for phosphoTyr-783 PLCγ1 (top panels) and, on parallel blots, for Actin (bottom panels). The PLCγ1 phosphorylation per unit Actin was determined by densitometric quantification of the blots from at least 4 independent experiments, and is shown in the graphs to the right as the mean ± S.D., where PLCγ1 phosphorylation after each treatment was normalized to that in WT BMMCs treated with Ag plus SCF. The asterisk indicates a significant difference (p<0.05) between WT and PTP α -KO samples for any one treatment. (D) The time-dependent stimulation of PLCγ1 phosphorylation was determined in response to antigen (left panels) and antigen plus SCF (right panels) as described above. The blots shown are representative of two experiments.



Figure 4.4. Antigen and/or SCF-induced phosphorylation of p38. WT ($PTP\alpha^{+/+}$) and $PTP\alpha$ -KO ($PTP\alpha^{-/-}$) cells were untreated (Control, C), or stimulated with 100 ng/ml antigen (Ag, DNP-HSA), 100 ng/ml SCF, or co-stimulated by simultaneous addition of antigen and SCF (Ag + SCF). The cells were harvested at 2 min (A), 5 min (B), and 15 min (C) after treatment, and the lysates were probed for phospho-p38 (pp38, top panels) and, on parallel blots, for Actin (bottom panels). The p38 phosphorylation per unit Actin was determined by densitometric quantification of the blots from at least 3 independent experiments, and is shown in the graphs to the right as the mean \pm S.D., where p38 phosphorylation after each treatment was normalized to that in WT BMMCs treated with Ag plus SCF. The asterisk indicates a significant difference (p<0.05) between WT and PTPa-KO samples for any one treatment. (D) The time-dependent stimulation of p38 phosphorylation was determined in response to antigen (left panels) and antigen plus SCF (right panels) as described above. The blots shown are representative of two experiments.



В

А



Figure 4.5. PTP α does not significantly affect the phosphorylation of ERK, JNK, and c-Kit upon treatment with antigen and/or SCF. WT (PTP $\alpha^{+/+}$) and PTP α -KO (PTP $\alpha^{-/-}$) cells were untreated (Control, C), or stimulated with 100 ng/ml antigen (Ag, DNP-HSA), 100 ng/ml SCF, or co-stimulated by simultaneous addition of antigen and SCF (Ag + SCF). The cells were harvested at 2 min and 15 min after treatment, and the lysates were probed on parallel blots with the indicated antibodies. (A) BMMCs lysates were immunoprobed for phosphoErk, phosphoJnk and actin. (B) BMMC lysates were immunoprobed for phosphoTyr-567/569-c-Kit, phosphoTyr-719-c-Kit, and total c-Kit. For each timepoint, the sets of parallel blots shown (A,B) are representative of four independent experiments.





В



Figure 4.6. PTPα does not significantly alter the phosphorylation of Lyn and FccR1-β upon treatment with antigen and SCF. WT (PTPα^{+/+}) and PTPα-KO (PTPα^{-/-}) cells were untreated (Control, C), or stimulated with 100 ng/ml antigen (Ag, DNP-HSA), 100 ng/ml SCF, or co-stimulated by simultaneous addition of antigen and SCF (Ag + SCF). The cells were harvested after 2 min of treatment, and the lysates were used to immunoprecipitate (IP) the indicated proteins. **(A)** FccR1-γ antibody was used to precipitate the FccR1 compex from BMMC lysates. The immunoprecipitates were probed for tyrosine phosphorylation of the FccR1-β protein (using 4G10 antibody). The membrane was stripped and reprobed for total FccR1-β protein. **(B)** Lyn immunoprecipitates from WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs were probed with phosphoTyr-416-Src or with Lyn antibodies on parallel blots (top panels). Lyn immunoprecipitates were also probed for phosphoTyr-507-Lyn, then stripped and reprobed for total Lyn protein (bottom panels). The blots shown **(A, B)** are representative of at least two independent experiments.

Chapter 5: Role of PTPα in Mast Cell Migration Towards Antigen and SCF

5.1 Rationale

A mixture of monomeric IgE, antigen, prostaglandins, complement proteins, cytokines and other mast cell attractants contribute to the migration of mast cells in vivo that facilitates chronic allergic inflammation (Kitaura et al., 2005; Kuehn et al., 2010; Nilsson et al., 1996). Our lab has previously shown that PTPα is required for SCF-mediated Fyn and Rac/Jnk pathway activation, which facilitate the migration of mast cells. PTP α -KO BMMCs exhibited defective spreading, polarization, and chemotaxis towards an SCF gradient. The tissue distribution of mast cells was also abnormal in PTPα-KO mice (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008), suggesting that PTPα regulates *in vivo* recruitment of mast cells. Several reports have shown that SCF-driven migration can be enhanced by concurrent stimulation of mast cells with antigen or fibronectin (Kuehn et al., 2010; Tan et al., 2003). The SFKs Lyn and Fyn are substrates of PTP α , and are involved in antigen signaling and migration of mast cells (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010; Suzuki et al., 1998). Therefore, chemotaxis driven by co-stimulation of c-Kit and FccR1 signaling, as is likely to occur during allergic lung infiltration by mast cells, could also be regulated by $PTP\alpha$.

5.2 BMMC Migration in the Presence of Fibronectin

Given the PTPα-dependent changes I observed in signaling pathways are involved in mast cell migration upon stimulation with antigen and/or SCF, I compared the migratory abilities of WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs towards these chemoattractants to determine whether this is also affected by PTPα. Equal numbers of IgE-sensitized WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs were cytokine starved and loaded into Transwell migration inserts that had been precoated with fibronectin on the bottom surface of the porous membranes (Methods, section 2.10). The insert was placed in a well containing serum-free media with either 10 ng/ml antigen (DNP-HSA) or 25 ng/ml SCF, or a combination of both. After a 3 hour incubation at 37°C, cells that had migrated into the medium in the bottom well were collected and counted to determine the number of BMMCs that migrated. These data were used to calculate the migration index, using the formula:

Migration Index =[# of migrated cells] \div [4x10⁵ total cells loaded]x100.

Figure 5.1 shows the migration indices of WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs exposed to different chemotactic stimuli. In the absence of stimulus virtually no cells migrated through the membrane (data not shown). Both WT and PTPα-KO cells migrated towards 10 ng/ml antigen in the bottom well with a migration index of about 1.0. The biggest index of migration (~5) was induced by 25 ng/ml SCF. On average, migration towards SCF alone was slightly lower for PTPα-KO than WT BMMCs, but this difference was not statistically significant (p=0.28). The absence of PTPα was previously shown to reduce SCF-driven migration of BMMCs nearly threefold in the

absence of IgE (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008). In my experiments all cells were IgE sensitized, and the migrations were carried out for 3 hours instead of 1.5 hours. In the absence of antigen, IgE alone can induce mast cell activation and migration (Kashiwakura et al., 2011; Kitaura et al., 2005), and may possibly affect signaling events that minimize the role of PTP α in SCF-driven chemotaxis. The addition of antigen appeared to reduce SCF-mediated migration to a similar extent for WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs, but this reduction did not reach statistical significance (WT: p=0.15, KO: p=0.23). A migration index of about 3.5% was achieved by WT and similarly PTP α -KO cells migrated towards the combination of antigen and SCF.

5.3 Adherent Cell Analysis

The Transwell membranes themselves were also analyzed for the number of cells that passed through the pores, but remained attached to the fibronectin-coated underside of the membranes. After a 3 hr migration period, the adherent cells were fixed and stained with Giemsa reagent, and then the top surface of the membrane was swabbed to remove cells that had not migrated through the pores. The membranes were cut out, mounted on slides, and visualized on a microscope. Figure 5.2A shows the representative staining of WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs attached to the membrane underside after migration towards 25 ng/ml SCF and 10 ng/ml antigen. For each migration condition, the number of adherent cells was counted in five different fields of the membrane to determine the mean density of adherent cells. Figure 5.2B shows the average number of migrating adherent cells per view field. Equivalent numbers of migrated adherent WT and PTPα-KO cells

were detected in response to antigen, in accord with the equivalent number of cells that moved into the media in the lower chamber (Fig. 5.1). Of all the stimuli tested, 25 ng/ml SCF alone attracted the largest number of mast cells to the underside of the fibronectin-coated membrane. More PTP α -KO than WT SCF-driven BMMCs were found on the membrane, though the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.09). Interestingly, PTP α appeared to regulate the co-stimulatory effect of antigen on the migration of adherent mast cells. While the addition of antigen to SCF did not significantly alter the number of WT adherent cells, the migration of SCFdriven PTP α -KO adherent mast cells was reduced by over 40% in the presence of antigen (p=0.01). As a result, the numbers of WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs attached to the membrane upon co-stimulation with antigen and SCF were very similar to the number of adherent WT cells attracted to SCF alone (Fig. 5.2B, third column).

Since the numbers of cells that migrated into the media in the lower well as well as those that still remained attached to the membrane were counted, it was possible to determine the total number of WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs that passed through the porous membrane under various conditions. Figure 5.3 shows the total numbers of migrated cells. As was seen with each subpopulation of cells (adherent and detached), 10 ng/ml antigen induced equivalent total numbers of WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs to pass through the membrane (Fig. 5.3). The total number of WT cells that migrated towards 25 ng/ml SCF alone was about five times higher than with antigen alone. The addition of antigen and the loss of PTP α appeared to independently lower the average number of SCF-driven BMMCs by about 30% and 15%,

respectively (right four columns, Fig. 5.3). However, these total cell populations were not significantly different under these conditions (p>0.10). The ratios of adherent to detached cells appears to be mostly independent of the overall number of migrated cells. An average of about 1 in every 5 cells that passed through the membrane remained attached to fibronectin.

5.4 Fibronectin-Independent Mast Cell Migration

It was recently reported that a 10 ng/ml dose of SCF can synergize with antigen (10 ng/ml) to enhance mast cell migration in the absence of fibronectin binding (Kuehn et al., 2010). This effect involves the same PI3K/Btk/PLCy pathway that enhances calcium signaling and mediator release from mast cells (Iwaki et al., 2005). In the migration experiments shown earlier, a higher dose of SCF (25 ng/ml) was used. When the lower dose (10 ng/ml) of SCF was also tested with fibronectin-coated inserts, only about 2% of WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs migrated into the media in the lower well (n=2), and about 1.5% migrated with the addition of 10 ng/ml antigen to both cell types. Thus even the suboptimal dose of SCF did not synergize with antigen during fibronectin-aided migration. I also tested whether fibronectinindependent mast cell migration towards SCF and/or antigen (both at 10 ng/ml) was affected by PTPa. As shown in Fig. 5.4 the assessment of migration using uncoated Transwell inserts revealed no differences between WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs stimulated with 10 ng/ml Ag, 10 ng/ml SCF, or the combination of both stimuli. Interestingly, antigen and SCF co-stimulation synergistically enhanced the migration of WT and PTP α -KO cells, in agreement with the previously reported enhancement

(Kuehn et al., 2010). However, this was in contrast to my findings from fibronectinaided migration, where added antigen appeared to reduce SCF-driven chemotaxis (Fig. 5.1), and was not a result of using a higher dose of SCF (25 ng/ml). This suggests that fibronectin stimulation may determine whether antigen enhances or inhibits SCF-driven mast cell chemotaxis.

5.5 Discussion

In this chapter, I investigated the role of $PTP\alpha$ in mast cell chemotaxis in response to the combined stimuli of Ag and SCF. In agreement with other studies, antigen alone was capable of stimulating the migration of BMMCs through a porous membrane with or without fibronectin coating (Ishizuka et al., 2001b; Kitaura et al., 2005; Kuehn et al., 2010). My results demonstrate that this process is independent of PTP α expression. Previously, I showed that Ag-stimulated activation of PLCy1 is higher in PTPα-KO BMMCs. PLCγ1 regulates calcium signaling to promote mast cell migration and mediator release, however the increased PLCy1 activation in PTP α -KO BMMC was obviously insufficient to enhance migration towards antigen. Much higher magnitude of mast cell chemotaxis was induced by 25 ng/ml SCF, and in response to this stimulus PTPa-KO BMMCs were slightly less efficient than WT-BMMCs migrating into the bottom chamber. However, the number of PTPα-KO cells that passed through the membrane and remained attached to the fibronectin-coated underside was somewhat higher than for WT cells. Although not statistically significant, this trend suggests that PTPa may affect mast cell binding to fibronectin

(via cytoskeletal rearrangements or integrin activation) more than it affects the overall chemotaxis to SCF.

PTPα did not significantly affect the total number of cells that passed through the membrane pores, since after 3 hours the majority (~80%) of migrated cells had detached into the media in the lower well. SCF-mediated enhancement of mast cell activation and migration depend on PI3K signaling, whereas adhesion to fibronectin was shown to depend more on protein kinase C activation (Ra et al., 1994; Tan et al., 2003). In my experiments, SCF-induced PI3K activation, as reflected by Akt phosphorylation, was significantly reduced in IgE-sensitized PTP α -KO BMMCs (Fig. 4.2C). However, the migration experiments demonstrate that this reduced Akt activation was not sufficient to significantly affect the migration of PTP α -KO BMMCs. There was noticeable variability in the overall migratory responses of WT and PTPa-KO BMMCs to SCF between experiments, which contributed to the standard deviation for the numbers of migrated cells. In most experiments fewer PTPa-KO than WT cells had migrated towards SCF irregardless of the magnitude of the overall migration. My data suggest that statistically significant differences might be detected by testing BMMC culture batches of similar age, performing migration experiments in triplicate, and using cell counting methods that are more accurate for low cell concentrations.

The addition of antigen to SCF appeared to inhibit migration in the presence of fibronectin, but it synergistically enhanced fibronectin-independent chemotaxis

towards the same concentration of SCF. The higher number of SCF-driven PTPα-KO BMMCs bound to fibronectin was significantly reduced by antigen co-stimulation, while WT cells were unaffected by the added antigen (Fig. 5.2B). Thus, the loss of PTPα may facilitate the reduction in binding to fibronectin brought by antigen costimulation, which in WT cells is inhibited by PTPα signaling. On the other hand, the lack of PTPα may just be increasing the affinity of mast cells to fibronectin during SCF-driven chemotaxis, while the co-induction of Fc ϵ R1 signaling may be ablating this effect and restoring affinity to fibronectin to the level of WT cells migrating to SCF alone (Fig. 5.2B). Elucidation of these mechanisms will require analysis of the activation of key signaling proteins in adherent mast cells that are stimulated with antigen and SCF.

Previously, I showed that PTP α positively regulates the activation of p38 and Akt in BMMCs co-stimulated with antigen and SCF. Although both p38- and PI3K/Aktmediated signaling can regulate chemotaxis (Craig and Greer, 2002; Ishizuka et al., 2001b; Kuehn et al., 2010; Samayawardhena et al., 2006; Tan et al., 2003), the presence or absence of PTP α did not significantly effect the total number of IgEsensitized BMMCs that migrated towards antigen and SCF. As already mentioned, our lab has previously demonstrated a crucial regulatory role of PTP α in integrin signaling and migration of various cell types (Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Wang et al., 2009). It would be interesting to also examine whether PTP α affects outside-in integrin signaling, i.e. how much integrin binding influences mast cell secretory responses to antigen and/or SCF.
Based on my experiments in *ex-vivo* settings, PTP α does not appear to be a major regulator of mast cell recruitment by antigen and SCF.



Figure 5.1. Antigen and SCF-induced migration of detached BMMCs. WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs were IgE sensitized using the 'New' method (section 2.3.2) and placed in Transwell inserts which had been precoated with fibronectin (as described in section 2.10). The bottom chamber contained the indicated doses of antigen and/or SCF (ng/ml). After 3 hours of incubation, cells that had appeared in the media in the bottom chamber media were counted. The migration index represents the percentage of cells that passed through the membrane and detached, expressed as mean \pm S.D. from 3-4 independent experiments.







В

Α



Figure 5.3. Total migrating mast cells after fibronectin-aided chemotaxis. Bars represent the sum of the number of mast cells attached to the entire Transwell membrane bottom surface and the total number of cells detached into the bottom well media. Data show the mean sum of both cell populations \pm S.D. (derived from the addition of subpopulation variances) from 3-4 independent experiments. The total number of adherent cells was determined by extrapolating the mean density of counted adherent cells (Fig. 5.2B) to the whole membrane surface (33mm²). The total number of detached cells was determined from the concentration of cells in the bottom wells; also equal to the migration index (from Fig. 5.1) times the total number of cells loaded (4x10⁵). The total numbers of WT and PTP α -KO migrated cells in the right four columns (SCF \pm Ag) were not significantly different (p>0.10).



Figure 5.4. PTP α **does not affect fibronectin-independent chemotaxis.** WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs were IgE sensitized using the 'New' method (section 2.3.2) and placed in uncoated (no fibronectin) Transwell inserts (as described in section 2.10). The inserts were placed in wells containing the indicated doses of antigen and/or SCF (ng/ml). After 3 hours of incubation the cells that had migrated into the medium in the bottom well were counted. The migration index represents the percentage of cells that passed through the membrane. The results shown are from one experiment and similar findings were made in a second independent experiment.

Chapter 6: General Discussion and Future Directions

This investigation was based on previous work from our lab that demonstrated that PTPα regulates important mast cell responses, including SCF-driven chemotaxis and antigen-mediated secretion of bioactive molecules (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008; Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). The combination of these stimuli is implicated in the exacerbation of allergic asthma symptoms. SCF levels are elevated in the lung epithelia of asthmatics (Al-Muhsen et al., 2004), where it is believed to enhance the sensitivity of mast cells to allergen and result in a greater release of inflammatory mediators that cause allergic airway hyperresponsiveness (Campbell et al., 1999). As described earlier, treatment with IgE and/or antigen, SCF, or other mast cell activators also promotes the migration of these cells. In addition to inflamed lung tissues, certain types of cancer cells also produce SCF and other chemoattractants to recruit mast cells and modify the tumor tissue microenvironment (Colombo and Piconese, 2009; Gounaris et al., 2007).

6.1 Antigen-Mediated Responses

In order to determine how PTPa affects the integration of these stimuli to regulate mast cell effector functions, a baseline of activation with antigen alone needed to be established in WT BMMCs. However, in most of my experiments the magnitudes of antigen-induced degranulation and production of TNFa and IL-13 cytokines were far below the typically expected values. To resolve this issue I modified the IgE sensitization protocol to allow binding of IgE to mast cells before withdrawal of the

growth factor IL-3. Given that mast cells *in vivo* are continuously exposed to circulating IgE molecules, and since my protocol produces equal surface presentation of IgE on both WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs, I believe that the 'New' protocol is an effective *in vitro* replication of mast cell sensitization. The magnitudes of degranulation in response to doses of antigen of WT BMMCs sensitized with the new protocol were similar to typical values reported. Unexpectedly however, the degranulation responses of PTP α -KO BMMCs to antigen were virtually identical to WT cells. This contrasts with earlier data from our lab, where the lack of PTP α was shown to significantly enhance antigen-induced degranulation and cytokine release (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010).

In my other experiments, WT and PTP α -KO cells were treated with antigen for 2, 5, and 15 minutes and assessed for the activation of key signaling proteins. Antigen stimulation induced the phosphorylation of the three MAPKs (p38, Erk, Jnk) to similar extents in WT and PTP α -KO cells, in contrast to the previously shown hyperphosphorylation of MAPKs in the absence of PTP α (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). Interestingly, I found that antigen-induced phosphorylation of PLC γ 1, a key activator of calcium signaling that we had not previously examined, was enhanced nearly two-fold in BMMCs lacking PTP α . Therefore, the lack of enhanced secretory responses that I observed in PTP α -KO BMMCs contrasts with PLC γ 1 hyperactivation, but correlates with the PTP α -independent activation of MAPKs. I also examined the antigen-stimulated phosphorylation of the IgE/Ag receptor FccR1 and that of its key effector, the Src family kinase Lyn. I found no differences in the

phosphorylation of FcεR1 and Lyn between WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs, again in contrast to previous findings in our lab, where Lyn and FcεR1 phosphorylation were reduced in antigen-treated PTPα-KO cells (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010).

I could not find any significant deviations in my experiments from the methodologies previously used by my colleague to conduct experiments that revealed a hyperresponsiveness of antigen-treated PTPα-KO mast cells. To find any abnormalities in the critical features of mast cell activation in my experiments, I examined the phosphorylation of Lyn kinase, the binding of IgE to the surface of mast cells, and compared the secretion of cytokines with the 'Old' and 'New' sensitization methods, but found no differences between WT and PTPα-KO cells. Other uncontrolled factors such as possible changes in the composition of purchased serum and IL-3-conditioned media used for the culturing of mast cells may have contibuted to the overall reduced maginitude of secretory responses when using the 'Old' method of IgE sensitization and to the lack of previously observed PTPα-dependent effects.

PTPα undergoes phosphorylation on a tyrosine residue (Tyr-789) in its C-terminal tail in response to integrin and growth factor receptor stimulation (Chen et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2009), but the regulation of PTPα Tyr-789 in mast cells has not been previously investigated. Treatment with antigen produced rapid and strong dephosphorylation of Tyr-789 that lasted at least 15 min, while SCF treatment also induced dephosphorylation, but to a lesser extent. Although phosphoTyr-789 of

PTP α is known to regulate chemotaxis of other cell types (Chen et al., 2009) as well as the activation of T cell receptor signaling (Maksumova et al., 2007), its role in modulating PTP α function in mast cells is still unknown. Furthermore, I examined the antigen-driven chemotaxis of mast cells with or without the aid of fibronectin. In all cases, PTP α -KO BMMCs migrated just as effectively as WT cells.

Since I found antigen-mediated responses of mast cells to be broadly unaffected by the expression of PTP α , this raises the possibility that the observed dephosphorylation of PTP α Tyr-789 may reflect the inhibition of its effector functions during mast cell activation. In T cells the phosphorylation of Tyr-789 enhances PTPα-mediated dephosphorylation of several regulatory tyrosine residues on Fyn kinase, reducing overall Fyn catalytic activity. The PTP CD45 dephosphorylates PTP α at Tyr-789, thus inhibiting some effects of PTP α in T cells (Maksumova et al., 2007). CD45 is also expressed in mast cells, where it promotes secretory responses (Grochowy et al., 2009), and thus may be the major enzyme that dephosphorylates PTP α upon antigen treatment. It is plausible that the negative regulatory functions of PTP α in Fc ϵ R1 signaling are inhibited by CD45, most likely via dephosphorylation of PTPa Tyr-789. If this is correct, then the phosphorylation of PTPa Tyr-789 should be elevated in CD45-null mast cells, as was seen in T cells, whereas the Y789F substitution in PTPa should minimize the reduction in secretory responses upon the loss of CD45.

The dephosphorylation of PTP α may also be a side-effect of mast cell products. Antigen-challenged mast cells produce reactive oxygen species that inhibit the catalytic domains of various PTPs, while in other cell types oxidation inhibits the phosphorylation of PTP α at Tyr-789 (Hao et al., 2006; Heneberg and Draber, 2005). Therefore, the induction of degranulation may feed back to modify the activation of PTP α and other phosphatases via reactive oxygen species or intermediates.

To determine why the elevated activation of PLC γ 1 in antigen-treated PTP α -KO BMMCs did not produce greater degranulation, it would be interesting in the future to examine the timecourse of calcium signaling. If calcium signaling is also enhanced in antigen-treated PTP α -KO cells, then processes downstream of PLC γ 1 signaling such as cytoskeletal rearrangement may be preventing an increase in degranulation. Additionally, the effect of PTP α on the activation of Fyn kinase should be determined, as Fyn has crucial positive regulatory functions in the activation of calcium signaling during degranulation, and also promotes chemotaxis (Samayawardhena et al., 2006; Sanchez-Miranda et al., 2010). In previously examined antigen-stimulated PTP α -KO BMMCs, Fyn activation was reduced and contrasted with hyperdegranulation due to the lack of PTP α (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). If Fyn activation was found to be increased in my stimulated mast cells, this could explain the elevated phosphorylation of PLC γ 1.

6.2 SCF-Mediated Responses of IgE-Sensitized BMMCs

WT and PTPα-KO BMMCs were stimulated with SCF alone parallel to antigentreated cells. Analysis of signaling proteins showed no effect of PTPα on the phosphorylation of the SCF receptor c-Kit, downstream MAPKs, or PLCγ1 at any timepoint. In contrast, Akt phosphorylation was reduced in PTPα-KO BMMCs by about 25% after 15 min treatment with SCF. In all of my experiments IgE-sensitized BMMCs were used, while in previous work in our Iab SCF-treated cells were not preexposed to IgE (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008), which may explain their varied responses to SCF.

The migration of mast cells towards SCF with the aid of fibronectin was also examined. The total number of PTP α -KO cells that passed through the membrane pores was fairly similar to WT BMMCs. A slightly higher fraction of PTP α -KO cells appeared to remain attached to the fibronectin-coated membrane instead of detaching into the chemotactic media, but this difference was not statistically significant. The lack of previously reported (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008) defects in c-Kit signaling activation and migration due to the loss of PTP α may be a result of sensitization with IgE. To investigate whether this is indeed a factor in my distinct findings, IgE-free mast cells would need to be tested again for responses to SCF.

6.3 Synergistic Mast Cell Activation by Antigen and SCF

The phosphorylation of key proteins in the integrated c-Kit/FccR1 signaling events was investigated. Interestingly, the addition of the other ligand had opposing effects on the phosphorylation of the receptor for each cognate ligand. The antigen-induced phosphorylation of the FccR1 β subunit was noticeably enhanced by adding SCF, and in contrast c-Kit receptor phosphorylation was nearly abolished by the addition of antigen to SCF in WT and PTP α -KO BMMCs. This raises the possibility that activation of FccR1 signaling concurrently with c-Kit sequesters tyrosine kinases away from the c-Kit receptor complex to inhibit its downstream signaling, while increasing their tyrosine kinase activity near the FccR1 receptor complex. To determine if co-stimulation with antigen reduces the association of tyrosine kinases with c-Kit and increases their association with FccR1, the ligand-stimulated receptors could each be immunoprecipitated to evaluate the changes in their associations with Lyn, Fyn, and the cytoplasmic Syk due to the co-activation of the other receptor.

Synergistic Ag/SCF-induced degranulation and cytokine secretion were not significantly affected by the loss of PTP α . Additionally, PTP α -KO BMMCs exhibited identical c-Kit and FccR1 phosphorylation to that in WT cells upon co-stimulation with antigen and SCF. Upon prolonged (15 min) co-treatment, the phosphorylation of PLC γ 1, Erk, Jnk, and p38 was higher than with either stimulant alone. However, only the phosphorylation of p38 and Akt was reduced in PTP α -KO cells after 15 min co-treatment with antigen and SCF, suggesting that these signaling changes alone are not sufficient to significantly affect the resultant secretory responses of mast cells.

The role of PTP α in the antigen-induced modulation of mast cell migration was also examined in the contex of SCF and extracellular matrix proteins that facilitate mast cell recruitment *in vivo*. SCF-driven chemotaxis of WT BMMCs in the presence of fibronectin was mostly unaffected by the addition of antigen. On the other hand, the number of fibronectin-bound PTP α -KO BMMCs was reduced by about 40% due to the addition of antigen. After 3 hours, the majority of migrated cells had already detached from fibronectin, leaving a small fraction of cells that are still bound to the membrane. Thus, the overall number of migrated cells was not significantly affected by PTP α , suggesting that PTP α may have bigger effects on cytoskeletal interactions with extracellular matrix proteins than on the chemotactic drive of mast cells. In the future, methods to examine cytoskeletal rearrangement, such as staining with phalloidin or anti-Rac antibodies, could be used to determine the role of PTP α in the regulation of mast cell adhesion to fibronectin or other extracellular matrix proteins in the contex of IgE and SCF.

Interestingly, in the absence of fibronectin, antigen and SCF synergistically stimulated mast cell migration, as was also recently reported by another group (Kuehn et al., 2010). In contrast, during fibronectin-aided chemotaxis in my experiments, the same doses of antigen and SCF did not have additive effects on migration. In summary, my *ex vivo* experiments including immunoprobing the activation of key signaling proteins, degranulation and cytokine assays show that PTP α is not a major regulator of the co-stimulatory activation of mast cells via c-Kit and FccR1, nor of the induced synergistic secretory responses. The role of dephosphorylation of PTP α Tyr-789 in mast cell activation still remains unknown. Additionally, the absence of PTP α appears to promote antigen-induced detachment of mast cells from fibronectin during SCF-driven chemotaxis. Despite the positive regulation of Akt and p38 by PTP α upon co-stimulation with antigen and SCF, the overall magnitude of migration appeared to be independent of PTP α . My overall results suggest that at least under the *ex vivo* experimental conditions that I employed, PTP α is not a crucial regulator of mast cell responses to antigen and SCF. A summary of my key findings is illustrated in Figure 6.1.

6.4 Future Directions:

The Role of PTP α in a Murine Model of Chronic Lung Inflammation

Many Src family kinases are substrates of PTP α , and are important modulators of immune cell activation and migration. In naïve thymocytes PTP α regulates the activation of Fyn kinase and thymocyte proliferation (Maksumova et al., 2005). Our lab has previously demonstrated that the loss of PTP α alters the distribution of mast cells in the mouse (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2008), and the hyperresponsiveness of PTP α -null mice to IgE-mediated systemic anaphylaxis supports a regulatory role of PTP α in mast cell recruitment and activation (Samayawardhena and Pallen, 2010). The complex interplay of cytokines, extracellular matrix proteins, and other bioactive molecules can drastically influence immune cell responses *in vivo*. The loss of PTPα could influence the overall allergic inflammation via the recruitment and activation of multiple cell types in ways that may not be apparent through *ex vivo* studies alone. In order to determine the role of PTPα in the pathogenesis of allergies, it must be examined in an *in vivo* model of the disease. Recent preliminary data suggest that mice lacking PTPα have altered T cell subtype-specific cytokine responses to various lung allergens. Therefore, the susceptibility of PTPα-deficient mice to develop Th2 cell differentiation and antigeninduced lung inflammation will also be examined, which models the pathogenesis of human asthma. We are collaborating with Dr. Kelly McNagny (and Matthew Gold, a graduate student in the McNagny laboratory), who has extensive experience in studying mouse models of allergic inflammation (Blanchet et al., 2007; Blanchet et al., 2011).

To investigate allergic Th2 cell responses, cohorts of WT and PTPα-KO mice will be sensitized intranasally to the house dust mite (HDM) allergen. Lung tissues will be stained and scored for histological traits of inflammation. Isolated lymphoid and lung tissues will also be re-stimulated with antigen and assayed for cytokines. Other mouse cohorts will also be tested for the development of Th1/Th17 type Hypersensitivity Pneumonitis (HP). Both asthma and HP are initiated by alternative T cell subtypes, the differentiation of which may be regulated by PTPα via cytokine and/or T cell receptor signaling. To test this hypothesis, Th1, Th2, Th17, Treg and

neutral T cells will be stimulated to produce cytokines, which will be assayed by ELISA and FACS analysis.

If these experiments show that PTP α significantly affects allergic inflammatory responses *in vivo*, then future transplantation of WT and PTP α -null BMMCs into mast cell-deficient mice will elucidate the role of PTP α in mast cell responses, and the efficacy of therapeutic targeting of PTP α . These experiments will improve our understanding of the processes that regulate adaptive immunity and facilitate human allergic diseases.



Figure 6.1 Proposed PTPα-dependent processes during mast cell activation. (A) PTPα

becomes dephosphorylated at tyrosine 789 upon cell stimulation, especially with antigen. (B) PTP α promotes the activation of p38 and Akt upon prolonged stimulation with antigen and SCF. (C) Antigen-induced phosphorylation of PLC γ 1 is enhanced in PTP α -null mast cells. (D) In the absence of PTP α antigen promotes cell detachment from fibronectin (FN) during SCF-driven migration.

References

- Abonia, J.P., Hallgren, J., Jones, T., Shi, T., Xu, Y., Koni, P., et al., 2006. Alpha-4 integrins and VCAM-1, but not MAdCAM-1, are essential for recruitment of mast cell progenitors to the inflamed lung. Blood 108 1588-1594.
- Abraham, S.N., St. John, A.L., 2010. Mast cell-orchestrated immunity to pathogens. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 10 440-452.
- Akimoto, M., Mishra, K., Lim, K.T., Tani, N., Hisanaga, S.I., Katagiri, T., et al., 2009. Protein tyrosine phosphatase epsilon is a negative regulator of FcepsilonRImediated mast cell responses. Scand. J. Immunol. 69 401-411.
- Ali, K., Bilancio, A., Thomas, M., Pearce, W., Gilfillan, A.M., Tkaczyk, C., et al., 2004. Essential role for the p110delta phosphoinositide 3-kinase in the allergic response. Nature 431 1007-1011.
- Allakhverdi, Z., Comeau, M.R., Jessup, H.K., Yoon, B.R., Brewer, A., Chartier, S., et al., 2007. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin is released by human epithelial cells in response to microbes, trauma, or inflammation and potently activates mast cells. J. Exp. Med. 204 253-258.
- Al-Muhsen, S.Z., Shablovsky, G., Olivenstein, R., Mazer, B., Hamid, Q., 2004. The expression of stem cell factor and c-kit receptor in human asthmatic airways. Clin. Exp. Allergy 34 911-916.
- Alonso, A., Sasin, J., Bottini, N., Friedberg, I., Friedberg, I., Osterman, A., et al., 2004. Protein tyrosine phosphatases in the human genome. Cell 117 699-711.
- Andersen, J.N., Mortensen, O.H., Peters, G.H., Drake, P.G., Iversen, L.F., Olsen, O.H., et al., 2001. Structural and evolutionary relationships among protein tyrosine phosphatase domains. Mol. Cell. Biol. 21 7117-7136.
- Aressy, B., Ducommun, B., 2008. Cell cycle control by the CDC25 phosphatases. Anticancer Agents Med. Chem. 8 818-824.
- Arias, K., Baig, M., Colangelo, M., Chu, D., Walker, T., Goncharova, S., et al., 2009. Concurrent blockade of platelet-activating factor and histamine prevents lifethreatening peanut-induced anaphylactic reactions. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 124 307-14, 314.e1-2.
- Attoub, S., Rivat, C., Rodrigues, S., Van Bocxlaer, S., Bedin, M., Bruyneel, E., et al., 2002. The c-kit tyrosine kinase inhibitor STI571 for colorectal cancer therapy. Cancer Res. 62 4879-4883.
- Babu, S.K., Puddicombe, S.M., Arshad, H.H., Wilson, S.J., Ward, J., Gozzard, N., et al., 2011. Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) autoregulates its expression and induces adhesion molecule expression in asthma. Clin. Immunol. 140 18-25.
- Banchereau, J., Steinman, R.M., 1998. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 392 245-252.

- Barr, A.J., 2010. Protein tyrosine phosphatases as drug targets: strategies and challenges of inhibitor development. Future Med. Chem. 2 1563-1576.
- Bellone, G., Carbone, A., Sibona, N., Bosco, O., Tibaudi, D., Smirne, C., et al., 2001. Aberrant activation of c-kit protects colon carcinoma cells against apoptosis and enhances their invasive potential. Cancer Res. 61 2200-2206.
- Bessette, D.C., Qiu, D., Pallen, C.J., 2008. PRL PTPs: mediators and markers of cancer progression. Cancer Metastasis Rev. 27 231-252.
- Bhandari, V., Lim, K.L., Pallen, C.J., 1998. Physical and functional interactions between receptor-like protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha and p59fyn. J. Biol. Chem. 273 8691-8698.
- Bilwes, A.M., den Hertog, J., Hunter, T., Noel, J.P., 1996. Structural basis for inhibition of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha by dimerization. Nature 382 555-559.
- Bischoff, S.C., Dahinden, C.A., 1992. C-Kit Ligand: a Unique Potentiator of Mediator Release by Human Lung Mast Cells. J. Exp. Med. 175 237-244.
- Bjorge, J.D., Jakymiw, A., Fujita, D.J., 2000. Selected glimpses into the activation and function of Src kinase. Oncogene 19 5620-5635.
- Blanchet, M.R., Bennett, J.L., Gold, M.J., Levantini, E., Tenen, D.G., Girard, M., et al., 2011. CD34 is required for Dendritic Cell Trafficking and Pathology in Murine Hypersensitivity Pneumonitis. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.
- Blanchet, M.R., Maltby, S., Haddon, D.J., Merkens, H., Zbytnuik, L., McNagny, K.M., 2007. CD34 facilitates the development of allergic asthma. Blood 110 2005-2012.
- Blank, U., 2011. The mechanisms of exocytosis in mast cells. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716 107-122.
- Blume-Jensen, P., Claesson-Welsh, L., Siegbahn, A., Zsebo, K.M., Westermark, B., Heldin, C.H., 1991. Activation of the human c-kit product by ligand-induced dimerization mediates circular actin reorganization and chemotaxis. EMBO J. 10 4121-4128.
- Bottini, E., Bergamaschi, A., Magrini, A., Spina, C., Ammendola, L., Grassi, S., et al., 2007. Allergy and ACP1 genetic polymorphism. Allergy Asthma Proc. 28 87-92.
- Bradding, P., 2009. Human lung mast cell heterogeneity. Thorax 64 278-280.
- Broide, D.H., Finkelman, F., Bochner, B.S., Rothenberg, M.E., 2011. Advances in mechanisms of asthma, allergy, and immunology in 2010. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 127 689-695.
- Brown, J.M., Wilson, T.M., Metcalfe, D.D., 2008. The mast cell and allergic diseases: role in pathogenesis and implications for therapy. Clin. Exp. Allergy 38 4-18.
- Campbell, E., Hogaboam, C., Lincoln, P., Lukacs, N.W., 1999. Stem cell factorinduced airway hyperreactivity in allergic and normal mice. Am. J. Pathol. 154 1259-1265.

- Caughey, G.H., 2011. Mast cell proteases as protective and inflammatory mediators. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716 212-234.
- Chayama, K., Papst, P.J., Garrington, T.P., Pratt, J.C., Ishizuka, T., Webb, S., et al., 2001. Role of MEKK2-MEK5 in the regulation of TNF-alpha gene expression and MEKK2-MKK7 in the activation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase in mast cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 98 4599-4604.
- Chen, M., Chen, S.C., Pallen, C.J., 2006. Integrin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha is required for cytoskeletal reorganization and cell migration. J. Biol. Chem. 281 11972-11980.
- Chen, S.C., Khanna, R.S., Bessette, D.C., Samayawardhena, L.A., Pallen, C.J., 2009. Protein tyrosine phosphatase-alpha complexes with the IGF-I receptor and undergoes IGF-I-stimulated tyrosine phosphorylation that mediates cell migration. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 297 C133-9.
- Colombo, M.P., Piconese, S., 2009. Polyps wrap mast cells and Treg within tumorigenic tentacles. Cancer Res. 69 5619-5622.
- Columbo, M., Horowitz, E.M., Botana, L.M., MacGlashan, D.W., Jr, Bochner, B.S., Gillis, S., et al., 1992. The human recombinant c-kit receptor ligand, rhSCF, induces mediator release from human cutaneous mast cells and enhances IgEdependent mediator release from both skin mast cells and peripheral blood basophils. J. Immunol. 149 599-608.
- Constant, S., Pfeiffer, C., Woodard, A., Pasqualini, T., Bottomly, K., 1995. Extent of T cell receptor ligation can determine the functional differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells. J. Exp. Med. 182 1591-1596.
- Craig, A.W., Greer, P.A., 2002. Fer kinase is required for sustained p38 kinase activation and maximal chemotaxis of activated mast cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 22 6363-6374.
- Crivellato, E., Nico, B., Ribatti, D., 2008. Mast cells and tumour angiogenesis: new insight from experimental carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett. 269 1-6.
- Da Silva, C.A., Reber, L., Frossard, N., 2006. Stem cell factor expression, mast cells and inflammation in asthma. Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol. 20 21-39.
- Daum, G., Regenass, S., Sap, J., Schlessinger, J., Fischer, E.H., 1994. Multiple forms of the human tyrosine phosphatase RPTP alpha. Isozymes and differences in glycosylation. J. Biol. Chem. 269 10524-10528.
- den Hertog, J., Pals, C.E., Peppelenbosch, M.P., Tertoolen, L.G., de Laat, S.W., Kruijer, W., 1993. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha activates pp60csrc and is involved in neuronal differentiation. EMBO J. 12 3789-3798.
- den Hertog, J., Tracy, S., Hunter, T., 1994. Phosphorylation of receptor proteintyrosine phosphatase alpha on Tyr789, a binding site for the SH3-SH2-SH3 adaptor protein GRB-2 in vivo. EMBO J. 13 3020-3032.
- Dong, C., Yang, D.D., Wysk, M., Whitmarsh, A.J., Davis, R.J., Flavell, R.A., 1998. Defective T cell differentiation in the absence of Jnk1. Science 282 2092-2095.

- Ekoff, M., Strasser, A., Nilsson, G., 2007. FcepsilonRI aggregation promotes survival of connective tissue-like mast cells but not mucosal-like mast cells. J. Immunol. 178 4177-4183.
- Fehrenbach, K., Lessmann, E., Zorn, C.N., Kuhny, M., Grochowy, G., Krystal, G., et al., 2009. Steel factor enhances supraoptimal antigen-induced IL-6 production from mast cells via activation of protein kinase C-beta. J. Immunol. 182 7897-7905.
- Feske, S., 2007. Calcium signalling in lymphocyte activation and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7 690-702.
- Field, K.A., Holowka, D., Baird, B., 1997. Compartmentalized activation of the high affinity immunoglobulin E receptor within membrane domains. J. Biol. Chem. 272 4276-4280.
- Finkelman, F.D., 2010. Peanut allergy and anaphylaxis. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 22 783-788.
- Furumoto, Y., Gomez, G., Gonzalez-Espinosa, C., Kovarova, M., Odom, S., Ryan, J.J., et al., 2005. The role of Src family kinases in mast cell effector function. Novartis Found. Symp. 271 39-47; discussion 47-53, 95-9.
- Galinsky, D.S., Nechushtan, H., 2008. Mast cells and cancer--no longer just basic science. Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol. 68 115-130.
- Gilfillan, A.M., Austin, S.J., Metcalfe, D.D., 2011. Mast cell biology: introduction and overview. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716 2-12.
- Gilfillan, A.M., Peavy, R.D., Metcalfe, D.D., 2009. Amplification mechanisms for the enhancement of antigen-mediated mast cell activation. Immunol. Res. 43 15-24.
- Gilfillan, A.M., Rivera, J., 2009. The tyrosine kinase network regulating mast cell activation. Immunol. Rev. 228 149-169.
- Gounaris, E., Erdman, S.E., Restaino, C., Gurish, M.F., Friend, D.S., Gounari, F., et al., 2007. Mast cells are an essential hematopoietic component for polyp development. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104 19977-19982.
- Grochowy, G., Hermiston, M.L., Kuhny, M., Weiss, A., Huber, M., 2009. Requirement for CD45 in fine-tuning mast cell responses mediated by different ligand-receptor systems. Cell. Signal. 21 1277-1286.
- Groen, A., Overvoorde, J., van der Wijk, T., den Hertog, J., 2008. Redox regulation of dimerization of the receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatases RPTPalpha, LAR, RPTPmu and CD45. FEBS J. 275 2597-2604.
- Groot Kormelink, T., Abudukelimu, A., Redegeld, F.A., 2009. Mast cells as target in cancer therapy. Curr. Pharm. Des. 15 1868-1878.
- Hamilton, L.M., Torres-Lozano, C., Puddicombe, S.M., Richter, A., Kimber, I., Dearman, R.J., et al., 2003. The role of the epidermal growth factor receptor in sustaining neutrophil inflammation in severe asthma. Clin. Exp. Allergy 33 233-240.

- Hammad, H., Chieppa, M., Perros, F., Willart, M.A., Germain, R.N., Lambrecht, B.N., 2009. House dust mite allergen induces asthma via Toll-like receptor 4 triggering of airway structural cells. Nat. Med. 15 410-416.
- Hamzaoui, A., Chaouch, N., Grairi, H., Ammar, J., Hamzaoui, K., 2005. Inflammatory process of CD8+ CD28- T cells in induced sputum from asthmatic patients. Mediators Inflamm. 2005 160-166.
- Hao, Q., Rutherford, S.A., Low, B., Tang, H., 2006. Suppression of the phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine phosphatase-alpha on the Src-independent site tyrosine 789 by reactive oxygen species. Mol. Pharmacol. 69 1938-1944.
- Hendriks, W.J., Elson, A., Harroch, S., Stoker, A.W., 2008. Protein tyrosine phosphatases: functional inferences from mouse models and human diseases. FEBS J. 275 816-830.
- Heneberg, P., Draber, P., 2005. Regulation of cys-based protein tyrosine phosphatases via reactive oxygen and nitrogen species in mast cells and basophils. Curr. Med. Chem. 12 1859-1871.
- Hernandez-Hansen, V., Smith, A.J., Surviladze, Z., Chigaev, A., Mazel, T., Kalesnikoff, J., et al., 2004. Dysregulated FcepsilonRI signaling and altered Fyn and SHIP activities in Lyn-deficient mast cells. J. Immunol. 173 100-112.
- Hirota, S., Isozaki, K., Moriyama, Y., Hashimoto, K., Nishida, T., Ishiguro, S., et al., 1998. Gain-of-function mutations of c-kit in human gastrointestinal stromal tumors. Science 279 577-580.
- Hogaboam, C., Kunkel, S.L., Strieter, R.M., Taub, D.D., Lincoln, P., Standiford, T.J., et al., 1998. Novel role of transmembrane SCF for mast cell activation and eotaxin production in mast cell-fibroblast interactions. J. Immunol. 160 6166-6171.
- Holgate, S.T., 2008. Pathogenesis of asthma. Clin. Exp. Allergy 38 872-897.
- Hong, H., Kitaura, J., Xiao, W., Horejsi, V., Ra, C., Lowell, C.A., et al., 2007. The Src family kinase Hck regulates mast cell activation by suppressing an inhibitory Src family kinase Lyn. Blood 110 2511-2519.
- Hsu, C., MacGlashan, D., Jr, 1996. IgE antibody up-regulates high affinity IgE binding on murine bone marrow-derived mast cells. Immunol. Lett. 52 129-134.
- Huang, B., Lei, Z., Zhang, G.M., Li, D., Song, C., Li, B., et al., 2008. SCF-mediated mast cell infiltration and activation exacerbate the inflammation and immunosuppression in tumor microenvironment. Blood 112 1269-1279.
- Huber, M., Helgason, C.D., Scheid, M.P., Duronio, V., Humphries, R.K., Krystal, G., 1998. Targeted disruption of SHIP leads to Steel factor-induced degranulation of mast cells. EMBO J. 17 7311-7319.
- Humbles, A.A., Lu, B., Nilsson, C.A., Lilly, C., Israel, E., Fujiwara, Y., et al., 2000. A role for the C3a anaphylatoxin receptor in the effector phase of asthma. Nature 406 998-1001.

- Ikeda, R.K., Miller, M., Nayar, J., Walker, L., Cho, J.Y., McElwain, K., et al., 2003. Accumulation of peribronchial mast cells in a mouse model of ovalbumin allergen induced chronic airway inflammation: modulation by immunostimulatory DNA sequences. J. Immunol. 171 4860-4867.
- Illi, S., von Mutius, E., Lau, S., Niggemann, B., Gruber, C., Wahn, U., et al., 2006. Perennial allergen sensitisation early in life and chronic asthma in children: a birth cohort study. Lancet 368 763-770.
- Ishizuka, T., Chayama, K., Takeda, K., Hamelmann, E., Terada, N., Keller, G.M., et al., 1999. Mitogen-activated protein kinase activation through Fc epsilon receptor I and stem cell factor receptor is differentially regulated by phosphatidylinositol 3kinase and calcineurin in mouse bone marrow-derived mast cells. J. Immunol. 162 2087-2094.
- Ishizuka, T., Okajima, F., Ishiwara, M., Iizuka, K., Ichimonji, I., Kawata, T., et al., 2001a. Sensitized mast cells migrate toward the antigen: a response regulated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming protein kinase. J. Immunol. 167 2298-2304.
- Ishizuka, T., Okajima, F., Ishiwara, M., Iizuka, K., Ichimonji, I., Kawata, T., et al., 2001b. Sensitized mast cells migrate toward the antigen: a response regulated by p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase and Rho-associated coiled-coil-forming protein kinase. J. Immunol. 167 2298-2304.
- Iwaki, S., Tkaczyk, C., Satterthwaite, A.B., Halcomb, K., Beaven, M.A., Metcalfe, D.D., et al., 2005. Btk plays a crucial role in the amplification of Fc epsilonRImediated mast cell activation by kit. J. Biol. Chem. 280 40261-40270.
- Jensen, B.M., Akin, C., Gilfillan, A.M., 2008a. Pharmacological targeting of the KIT growth factor receptor: a therapeutic consideration for mast cell disorders. Br. J. Pharmacol. 154 1572-1582.
- Jensen, B.M., Beaven, M.A., Iwaki, S., Metcalfe, D.D., Gilfillan, A.M., 2008b. Concurrent inhibition of kit- and FcepsilonRI-mediated signaling: coordinated suppression of mast cell activation. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 324 128-138.
- Jensen-Jarolim, E., Achatz, G., Turner, M.C., Karagiannis, S., Legrand, F., Capron, M., et al., 2008. AllergoOncology: the role of IgE-mediated allergy in cancer. Allergy 63 1255-1266.
- Jolly, P.S., Bektas, M., Olivera, A., Gonzalez-Espinosa, C., Proia, R.L., Rivera, J., et al., 2004. Transactivation of sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors by FcepsilonRI triggering is required for normal mast cell degranulation and chemotaxis. J. Exp. Med. 199 959-970.
- Kajiguchi, T., Lee, S., Lee, M.J., Trepel, J.B., Neckers, L., 2008. KIT regulates tyrosine phosphorylation and nuclear localization of beta-catenin in mast cell leukemia. Leuk. Res. 32 761-770.
- Kalesnikoff, J., Galli, S.J., 2008. New developments in mast cell biology. Nat. Immunol. 9 1215-1223.

- Kaplan, R., Morse, B., Huebner, K., Croce, C., Howk, R., Ravera, M., et al., 1990. Cloning of three human tyrosine phosphatases reveals a multigene family of receptor-linked protein-tyrosine-phosphatases expressed in brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 7000-7004.
- Kapp, K., Siemens, J., Weyrich, P., Schulz, J.B., Haring, H.U., Lammers, R., 2007. Extracellular domain splice variants of a transforming protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha mutant differentially activate Src-kinase dependent focus formation. Genes Cells 12 63-73.

Karasuyama, H., Mukai, K., Obata, K., Tsujimura, Y., Wada, T., 2011. Nonredundant roles of basophils in immunity. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 29 45-69.

- Kashiwakura, J., Otani, I.M., Kawakami, T., 2011. Monomeric IgE and mast cell development, survival and function. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716 29-46.
- Kawakami, T., Kitaura, J., 2005. Mast cell survival and activation by IgE in the absence of antigen: a consideration of the biologic mechanisms and relevance.J. Immunol. 175 4167-4173.
- Khanna, R.S., 2011. IGF-1 activates c-Abl to regulate PTPα tyrosine phosphorylation and cell migration. University of British Columbia, Vancouver, Master of Science Thesis
- Khodoun, M.V., Orekhova, T., Potter, C., Morris, S., Finkelman, F.D., 2004.Basophils initiate IL-4 production during a memory T-dependent response. J. Exp. Med. 200 857-870.
- Kim, B.S., Jin, H.S., Kim, H.B., Lee, S.Y., Kim, J.H., Kwon, J.W., et al., 2010a. Airway hyperresponsiveness is associated with total serum immunoglobulin E and sensitization to aeroallergens in Korean adolescents. Pediatr. Pulmonol. 45 1220-1227.
- Kim, H.Y., DeKruyff, R.H., Umetsu, D.T., 2010b. The many paths to asthma: phenotype shaped by innate and adaptive immunity. Nat. Immunol. 11 577-584.
- Kim, L.C., Song, L., Haura, E.B., 2009. Src kinases as therapeutic targets for cancer. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 6 587-595.
- Kim, M.S., Kuehn, H.S., Metcalfe, D.D., Gilfillan, A.M., 2008a. Activation and function of the mTORC1 pathway in mast cells. J. Immunol. 180 4586-4595.
- Kim, M.S., Radinger, M., Gilfillan, A.M., 2008b. The multiple roles of phosphoinositide 3-kinase in mast cell biology. Trends Immunol. 29 493-501.
- Kirshenbaum, A.S., Goff, J.P., Semere, T., Foster, B., Scott, L.M., Metcalfe, D.D., 1999. Demonstration that human mast cells arise from a progenitor cell population that is CD34(+), c-kit(+), and expresses aminopeptidase N (CD13). Blood 94 2333-2342.
- Kitamura, Y., 1989. Heterogeneity of mast cells and phenotypic change between subpopulations. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 7 59-76.

- Kitaura, J., Asai, K., Maeda-Yamamoto, M., Kawakami, Y., Kikkawa, U., Kawakami, T., 2000. Akt-dependent cytokine production in mast cells. J. Exp. Med. 192 729-740.
- Kitaura, J., Kinoshita, T., Matsumoto, M., Chung, S., Kawakami, Y., Leitges, M., et al., 2005. IgE- and IgE+Ag-mediated mast cell migration in an autocrine/paracrine fashion. Blood 105 3222-3229.
- Kohno, M., Yamasaki, S., Tybulewicz, V.L., Saito, T., 2005. Rapid and large amount of autocrine IL-3 production is responsible for mast cell survival by IgE in the absence of antigen. Blood 105 2059-2065.
- Kraft, S., Kinet, J.P., 2007. New developments in FcepsilonRI regulation, function and inhibition. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 7 365-378.
- Krug, N., Tschernig, T., Erpenbeck, V.J., Hohlfeld, J.M., Kohl, J., 2001. Complement factors C3a and C5a are increased in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid after segmental allergen provocation in subjects with asthma. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164 1841-1843.
- Kuehn, H.S., Radinger, M., Brown, J.M., Ali, K., Vanhaesebroeck, B., Beaven, M.A., et al., 2010. Btk-dependent Rac activation and actin rearrangement following FcepsilonRI aggregation promotes enhanced chemotactic responses of mast cells. J. Cell. Sci. 123 2576-2585.
- Kuehn, H.S., Beaven, M.A., Ma, H., Kim, M., Metcalfe, D.D., Gilfillan, A.M., 2008. Synergistic activation of phospholipases Cγ and Cβ: A novel mechanism for PI3K-independent enhancement of FccRI-induced mast cell mediator release. Cell. Signal. 20 625-636.
- Kurowska-Stolarska, M., Stolarski, B., Kewin, P., Murphy, G., Corrigan, C.J., Ying,
 S., et al., 2009. IL-33 amplifies the polarization of alternatively activated
 macrophages that contribute to airway inflammation. J. Immunol. 183 6469-6477.
- Laichalk, L.L., Kunkel, S.L., Strieter, R.M., Danforth, J.M., Bailie, M.B., Standiford, T.J., 1996. Tumor necrosis factor mediates lung antibacterial host defense in murine Klebsiella pneumonia. Infect. Immun. 64 5211-5218.
- Lantz, C.S., Yamaguchi, M., Oettgen, H.C., Katona, I.M., Miyajima, I., Kinet, J.P., et al., 1997. IgE regulates mouse basophil Fc epsilon RI expression in vivo. J. Immunol. 158 2517-2521.
- Le, H.T., Maksumova, L., Wang, J., Pallen, C.J., 2006. Reduced NMDA receptor tyrosine phosphorylation in PTPalpha-deficient mouse synaptosomes is accompanied by inhibition of four src family kinases and Pyk2: an upstream role for PTPalpha in NMDA receptor regulation. J. Neurochem. 98 1798-1809.
- Lei, G., Xue, S., Chery, N., Liu, Q., Xu, J., Kwan, C.L., et al., 2002. Gain control of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor activity by receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha. EMBO J. 21 2977-2989.

- Liang, L., Lim, K.L., Seow, K.T., Ng, C.H., Pallen, C.J., 2000. Calmodulin binds to and inhibits the activity of the membrane distal catalytic domain of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha. J. Biol. Chem. 275 30075-30081.
- Lim, K.L., Lai, D.S., Kalousek, M.B., Wang, Y., Pallen, C.J., 1997. Kinetic analysis of two closely related receptor-like protein-tyrosine-phosphatases, PTP alpha and PTP epsilon. Eur. J. Biochem. 245 693-700.
- Lin, R.Y., Anderson, A.S., Shah, S.N., Nurruzzaman, F., 2008. Increasing anaphylaxis hospitalizations in the first 2 decades of life: New York State, 1990 -2006. Ann. Allergy Asthma Immunol. 101 387-393.
- Liu, P., Cheng, H., Roberts, T.M., Zhao, J.J., 2009. Targeting the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in cancer. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 8 627-644.
- Liu, Y.J., 2006. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin: master switch for allergic inflammation. J. Exp. Med. 203 269-273.
- Lorentz, A., Klopp, I., Gebhardt, T., Manns, M.P., Bischoff, S.C., 2003. Role of activator protein 1, nuclear factor-kappaB, and nuclear factor of activated T cells in IgE receptor-mediated cytokine expression in mature human mast cells. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 111 1062-1068.
- Lu, L.F., Lind, E.F., Gondek, D.C., Bennett, K.A., Gleeson, M.W., Pino-Lagos, K., et al., 2006. Mast cells are essential intermediaries in regulatory T-cell tolerance. Nature 442 997-1002.
- Maksumova, L., Le, H.T., Muratkhodjaev, F., Davidson, D., Veillette, A., Pallen, C.J., 2005. Protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha regulates Fyn activity and Cbp/PAG phosphorylation in thymocyte lipid rafts. J. Immunol. 175 7947-7956.
- Maksumova, L., Wang, Y., Wong, N.K., Le, H.T., Pallen, C.J., Johnson, P., 2007. Differential function of PTPalpha and PTPalpha Y789F in T cells and regulation of PTPalpha phosphorylation at Tyr-789 by CD45. J. Biol. Chem. 282 20925-20932.
- Maltby, S., Khazaie, K., McNagny, K.M., 2009. Mast cells in tumor growth: angiogenesis, tissue remodelling and immune-modulation. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1796 19-26.
- Matasar, M.J., Neugut, A.I., 2003. Epidemiology of anaphylaxis in the United States. Curr. Allergy Asthma Rep. 3 30-35.
- Matthews, R.J., Cahir, E.D., Thomas, M.L., 1990. Identification of an additional member of the protein-tyrosine-phosphatase family: evidence for alternative splicing in the tyrosine phosphatase domain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 4444-4448.
- McLachlan, J.B., Hart, J.P., Pizzo, S.V., Shelburne, C.P., Staats, H.F., Gunn, M.D., et al., 2003. Mast cell-derived tumor necrosis factor induces hypertrophy of draining lymph nodes during infection. Nat. Immunol. 4 1199-1205.

- McNeil, H.P., Adachi, R., Stevens, R.L., 2007. Mast cell-restricted tryptases: structure and function in inflammation and pathogen defense. J. Biol. Chem. 282 20785-20789.
- McPherson, V.A., Sharma, N., Everingham, S., Smith, J., Zhu, H.H., Feng, G.S., et al., 2009. SH2 domain-containing phosphatase-2 protein-tyrosine phosphatase promotes Fc epsilon RI-induced activation of Fyn and Erk pathways leading to TNF alpha release from bone marrow-derived mast cells. J. Immunol. 183 4940-4947.
- Meininger, C.J., Yano, H., Rottapel, R., Bernstein, A., Zsebo, K.M., Zetter, B.R., 1992. The c-kit receptor ligand functions as a mast cell chemoattractant. Blood 79 958-963.
- Metcalfe, D.D., Peavy, R.D., Gilfillan, A.M., 2009. Mechanisms of mast cell signaling in anaphylaxis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 124 639-46; quiz 647-8.
- Meyts, I., Hellings, P.W., Hens, G., Vanaudenaerde, B.M., Verbinnen, B., Heremans, H., et al., 2006. IL-12 contributes to allergen-induced airway inflammation in experimental asthma. J. Immunol. 177 6460-6470.
- Miyata, M., Hatsushika, K., Ando, T., Shimokawa, N., Ohnuma, Y., Katoh, R., et al., 2008. Mast cell regulation of epithelial TSLP expression plays an important role in the development of allergic rhinitis. Eur. J. Immunol. 38 1487-1492.
- Moiseeva, E.P., Bradding, P., 2011. Mast cells in lung inflammation. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 716 235-269.
- Moneret-Vautrin, D.A., Morisset, M., Flabbee, J., Beaudouin, E., Kanny, G., 2005. Epidemiology of life-threatening and lethal anaphylaxis: a review. Allergy 60 443-451.
- Nadeau, K., McDonald-Hyman, C., Noth, E.M., Pratt, B., Hammond, S.K., Balmes, J., et al., 2010. Ambient air pollution impairs regulatory T-cell function in asthma.
 J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 126 845-852.e10.
- Nakamura, K., Mizuno, Y., Kikuchi, K., 1996. Molecular Cloning of a Novel Cytoplasmic Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase PTPε. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 218 726-732.
- Nakata, K., Yoshimaru, T., Suzuki, Y., Inoue, T., Ra, C., Yakura, H., et al., 2008. Positive and negative regulation of high affinity IgE receptor signaling by Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatase 1. J. Immunol. 181 5414-5424.
- Nechushtan, H., 2010. The complexity of the complicity of mast cells in cancer. Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol. 42 551-554.
- Nilsson, G., Johnell, M., Hammer, C.H., Tiffany, H.L., Nilsson, K., Metcalfe, D.D., et al., 1996. C3a and C5a are chemotaxins for human mast cells and act through distinct receptors via a pertussis toxin-sensitive signal transduction pathway. J. Immunol. 157 1693-1698.

- Nishida, K., Yamasaki, S., Ito, Y., Kabu, K., Hattori, K., Tezuka, T., et al., 2005. Fc{epsilon}RI-mediated mast cell degranulation requires calcium-independent microtubule-dependent translocation of granules to the plasma membrane. J. Cell Biol. 170 115-126.
- Odom, S., Gomez, G., Kovarova, M., Furumoto, Y., Ryan, J.J., Wright, H.V., et al., 2004. Negative regulation of immunoglobulin E-dependent allergic responses by Lyn kinase. J. Exp. Med. 199 1491-1502.
- Oka, T., Hori, M., Tanaka, A., Matsuda, H., Karaki, H., Ozaki, H., 2004. IgE aloneinduced actin assembly modifies calcium signaling and degranulation in RBL-2H3 mast cells. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 286 C256-63.
- Okayama, Y., Kawakami, T., 2006. Development, migration, and survival of mast cells. Immunol. Res. 34 97-115.
- Orfao, A., Garcia-Montero, A.C., Sanchez, L., Escribano, L., REMA, 2007. Recent advances in the understanding of mastocytosis: the role of KIT mutations. Br. J. Haematol. 138 12-30.
- Ostergaard, H.L., Shackelford, D.A., Hurley, T.R., Johnson, P., Hyman, R., Sefton, B.M., et al., 1989. Expression of CD45 alters phosphorylation of the lck-encoded tyrosine protein kinase in murine lymphoma T-cell lines. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 86 8959-8963.
- Pallen, C.J., 2003. Protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTPalpha): a Src family kinase activator and mediator of multiple biological effects. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 3 821-835.
- Parravicini, V., Gadina, M., Kovarova, M., Odom, S., Gonzalez-Espinosa, C., Furumoto, Y., et al., 2002. Fyn kinase initiates complementary signals required for IgE-dependent mast cell degranulation. Nat. Immunol. 3 741-748.
- Patterson, K.I., Brummer, T., O'Brien, P.M., Daly, R.J., 2009. Dual-specificity phosphatases: critical regulators with diverse cellular targets. Biochem. J. 418 475-489.
- Pecaric-Petkovic, T., Didichenko, S.A., Kaempfer, S., Spiegl, N., Dahinden, C.A., 2009. Human basophils and eosinophils are the direct target leukocytes of the novel IL-1 family member IL-33. Blood 113 1526-1534.
- Pelaia, G., Cuda, G., Vatrella, A., Gallelli, L., Caraglia, M., Marra, M., et al., 2005. Mitogen-activated protein kinases and asthma. J. Cell. Physiol. 202 642-653.
- Pennock, J.L., Grencis, R.K., 2004. In vivo exit of c-kit+/CD49d(hi)/beta7+ mucosal mast cell precursors from the bone marrow following infection with the intestinal nematode Trichinella spiralis. Blood 103 2655-2660.
- Petrone, A., Battaglia, F., Wang, C., Dusa, A., Su, J., Zagzag, D., et al., 2003. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha is essential for hippocampal neuronal migration and long-term potentiation. EMBO J. 22 4121-4131.
- Plante, S., Semlali, A., Joubert, P., Bissonnette, E., Laviolette, M., Hamid, Q., et al., 2006. Mast cells regulate procollagen I (alpha 1) production by bronchial

fibroblasts derived from subjects with asthma through IL-4/IL-4 delta 2 ratio. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 117 1321-1327.

- Poderycki, M., Tomimori, Y., Ando, T., Xiao, W., Maeda-Yamamoto, M., Sauer, K., et al., 2010. A minor catalytic activity of Src family kinases is sufficient for maximal activation of mast cells via the high-affinity IgE receptor. J. Immunol. 184 84-93.
- Ponniah, S., Wang, D.Z., Lim, K.L., Pallen, C.J., 1999. Targeted disruption of the tyrosine phosphatase PTPalpha leads to constitutive downregulation of the kinases Src and Fyn. Curr. Biol. 9 535-538.
- Pulido, R., Hooft van Huijsduijnen, R., 2008. Protein tyrosine phosphatases: dualspecificity phosphatases in health and disease. FEBS J. 275 848-866.
- Ra, C., Yasuda, M., Yagita, H., Okumura, K., 1994. Fibronectin receptor integrins are involved in mast cell activation. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 94 625-628.
- Rahman, I., Biswas, S.K., Kode, A., 2006. Oxidant and antioxidant balance in the airways and airway diseases. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 533 222-239.
- Rao, V.V., Loffler, C., Sap, J., Schlessinger, J., Hansmann, I., 1992. The gene for receptor-linked protein-tyrosine-phosphatase (PTPA) is assigned to human chromosome 20p12-pter by in situ hybridization (ISH and FISH). Genomics 13 906-907.
- Rayapureddi, J.P., Kattamuri, C., Steinmetz, B.D., Frankfort, B.J., Ostrin, E.J., Mardon, G., et al., 2003. Eyes absent represents a class of protein tyrosine phosphatases. Nature 426 295-298.
- Rosen, H., Goetzl, E.J., 2005. Sphingosine 1-phosphate and its receptors: an autocrine and paracrine network. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 5 560-570.
- Roskoski, R., Jr, 2005. Signaling by Kit protein-tyrosine kinase--the stem cell factor receptor. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 337 1-13.
- Samayawardhena, L.A., Kapur, R., Craig, A.W., 2007. Involvement of Fyn kinase in Kit and integrin-mediated Rac activation, cytoskeletal reorganization, and chemotaxis of mast cells. Blood 109 3679-3686.
- Samayawardhena, L.A., Pallen, C.J., 2010. PTPalpha activates Lyn and Fyn and suppresses Hck to negatively regulate FcepsilonRI-dependent mast cell activation and allergic responses. J. Immunol. 185 5993-6002.
- Samayawardhena, L.A., Pallen, C.J., 2008. Protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha regulates stem cell factor-dependent c-Kit activation and migration of mast cells. J. Biol. Chem. 283 29175-29185.
- Samayawardhena, L.A., Hu, J., Stein, P.L., Craig, A.W.B., 2006. Fyn kinase acts upstream of Shp2 and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase to promote chemotaxis of mast cells towards stem cell factor. Cell. Signal. 18 1447-1454.
- Sampson, H.A., Munoz-Furlong, A., Campbell, R.L., Adkinson, N.F., Jr, Bock, S.A., Branum, A., et al., 2006. Second symposium on the definition and management

of anaphylaxis: summary report--second National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease/Food Allergy and Anaphylaxis Network symposium. Ann. Emerg. Med. 47 373-380.

- Sanchez-Miranda, E., Ibarra-Sanchez, A., Gonzalez-Espinosa, C., 2010. Fyn kinase controls FcepsilonRI receptor-operated calcium entry necessary for full degranulation in mast cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 391 1714-1720.
- Sap, J., D'Eustachio, P., Givol, D., Schlessinger, J., 1990. Cloning and expression of a widely expressed receptor tyrosine phosphatase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 87 6112-6116.
- Saunders, A.E., Johnson, P., 2010. Modulation of immune cell signalling by the leukocyte common tyrosine phosphatase, CD45. Cell. Signal. 22 339-348.
- Sawada, J., Shimizu, S., Tamatani, T., Kanegasaki, S., Saito, H., Tanaka, A., et al., 2005. Stem cell factor has a suppressive activity to IgE-mediated chemotaxis of mast cells. J. Immunol. 174 3626-3632.
- Scales, H.E., Ierna, M.X., Lawrence, C.E., 2007. The role of IL-4, IL-13 and IL-4Ralpha in the development of protective and pathological responses to Trichinella spiralis. Parasite Immunol. 29 81-91.
- Shimizu, T., Owsianik, G., Freichel, M., Flockerzi, V., Nilius, B., Vennekens, R., 2009. TRPM4 regulates migration of mast cells in mice. Cell Calcium 45 226-232.
- Shivakrupa, R., Linnekin, D., 2005. Lyn contributes to regulation of multiple Kitdependent signaling pathways in murine bone marrow mast cells. Cell. Signal. 17 103-109.
- Sicherer, S.H., Sampson, H.A., 2010. Food allergy. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125 S116-25.
- Simons, F.E., 2010. Anaphylaxis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 125 S161-81.
- Skelton, M.R., Ponniah, S., Wang, D.Z., Doetschman, T., Vorhees, C.V., Pallen, C.J., 2003. Protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTP alpha) knockout mice show deficits in Morris water maze learning, decreased locomotor activity, and decreases in anxiety. Brain Res. 984 1-10.
- Sly, L.M., Kalesnikoff, J., Lam, V., Wong, D., Song, C., Omeis, S., et al., 2008. IgEinduced mast cell survival requires the prolonged generation of reactive oxygen species. J. Immunol. 181 3850-3860.
- Sokol, C.L., Barton, G.M., Farr, A.G., Medzhitov, R., 2008. A mechanism for the initiation of allergen-induced T helper type 2 responses. Nat. Immunol. 9 310-318.
- Sokol, C.L., Chu, N.Q., Yu, S., Nish, S.A., Laufer, T.M., Medzhitov, R., 2009a. Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response. Nat. Immunol. 10 713-720.

- Sokol, C.L., Chu, N.Q., Yu, S., Nish, S.A., Laufer, T.M., Medzhitov, R., 2009b. Basophils function as antigen-presenting cells for an allergen-induced T helper type 2 response. Nat. Immunol. 10 713-720.
- Soulsby, M., Bennett, A.M., 2009. Physiological signaling specificity by protein tyrosine phosphatases. Physiology (Bethesda) 24 281-289.
- Stahtea, X.N., Roussidis, A.E., Kanakis, I., Tzanakakis, G.N., Chalkiadakis, G., Mavroudis, D., et al., 2007. Imatinib inhibits colorectal cancer cell growth and suppresses stromal-induced growth stimulation, MT1-MMP expression and pro-MMP2 activation. Int. J. Cancer 121 2808-2814.
- Su, J., Muranjan, M., Sap, J., 1999. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha activates Src-family kinases and controls integrin-mediated responses in fibroblasts. Curr. Biol. 9 505-511.
- Sumi, Y., Hamid, Q., 2007. Airway remodeling in asthma. Allergol. Int. 56 341-348.
- Sundstrom, M., Vliagoftis, H., Karlberg, P., Butterfield, J.H., Nilsson, K., Metcalfe, D.D., et al., 2003. Functional and phenotypic studies of two variants of a human mast cell line with a distinct set of mutations in the c-kit proto-oncogene. Immunology 108 89-97.
- Sutherland, R.E., Olsen, J.S., McKinstry, A., Villalta, S.A., Wolters, P.J., 2008. Mast cell IL-6 improves survival from Klebsiella pneumonia and sepsis by enhancing neutrophil killing. J. Immunol. 181 5598-5605.
- Suzuki, T., Shoji, S., Yamamoto, K., Nada, S., Okada, M., Yamamoto, T., et al., 1998. Essential roles of Lyn in fibronectin-mediated filamentous actin assembly and cell motility in mast cells. J. Immunol. 161 3694-3701.
- Tan, B.L., Yazicioglu, M.N., Ingram, D., McCarthy, J., Borneo, J., Williams, D.A., et al., 2003. Genetic evidence for convergence of c-Kit- and alpha4 integrinmediated signals on class IA PI-3kinase and the Rac pathway in regulating integrin-directed migration in mast cells. Blood 101 4725-4732.
- Tang, H., Cao, W., Kasturi, S.P., Ravindran, R., Nakaya, H.I., Kundu, K., et al., 2010. The T helper type 2 response to cysteine proteases requires dendritic cellbasophil cooperation via ROS-mediated signaling. Nat. Immunol. 11 608-617.
- Tertoolen, L.G., Blanchetot, C., Jiang, G., Overvoorde, J., Gadella, T.W., Jr, Hunter, T., et al., 2001. Dimerization of receptor protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha in living cells. BMC Cell Biol. 2 8.
- Thommes, K., Lennartsson, J., Carlberg, M., Ronnstrand, L., 1999. Identification of Tyr-703 and Tyr-936 as the primary association sites for Grb2 and Grb7 in the c-Kit/stem cell factor receptor. Biochem. J. 341 (Pt 1) 211-216.
- Timokhina, ,Inna, Kissel, ,Holger, Stella, ,Greg, Besmer, ,Peter, 1998. Kit signaling through PI 3-kinase and Src kinase pathways: an essential role for Rac1 and JNK activation in mast cell proliferation. The EMBO Journal 17 6250.
- Tkaczyk, C., Beaven, M.A., Brachman, S.M., Metcalfe, D.D., Gilfillan, A.M., 2003. The phospholipase C gamma 1-dependent pathway of Fc epsilon RI-mediated

mast cell activation is regulated independently of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 278 48474-48484.

- Tonks, N.K., 2006. Protein tyrosine phosphatases: from genes, to function, to disease. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 7 833-846.
- Tracey, D., Klareskog, L., Sasso, E.H., Salfeld, J.G., Tak, P.P., 2008. Tumor necrosis factor antagonist mechanisms of action: A comprehensive review. Pharmacol. Ther. 117 244-279.
- Tremper-Wells, B., Resnick, R.J., Zheng, X., Holsinger, L.J., Shalloway, D., 2010. Extracellular domain dependence of PTPalpha transforming activity. Genes Cells 15 711-724.
- Tsai, W., Morielli, A.D., Cachero, T.G., Peralta, E.G., 1999. Receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha participates in the m1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor-dependent regulation of Kv1.2 channel activity. EMBO J. 18 109-118.
- Umetsu, D.T., McIntire, J.J., Akbari, O., Macaubas, C., DeKruyff, R.H., 2002. Asthma: an epidemic of dysregulated immunity. Nat. Immunol. 3 715-720.
- Vacaru, A.M., den Hertog, J., 2010. Serine dephosphorylation of receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha in mitosis induces Src binding and activation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 30 2850-2861.
- Vosseller, K., Stella, G., Yee, N.S., Besmer, P., 1997. c-kit receptor signaling through its phosphatidylinositide-3'-kinase-binding site and protein kinase C: role in mast cell enhancement of degranulation, adhesion, and membrane ruffling. Mol. Biol. Cell 8 909-922.
- Wang, M., Takeda, K., Shiraishi, Y., Okamoto, M., Dakhama, A., Joetham, A., et al., 2010. Peanut-induced intestinal allergy is mediated through a mast cell-IgE FcepsilonRI-IL-13 pathway. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 126 306-16, 316.e1-12.
- Wang, P.S., Wang, J., Xiao, Z.C., Pallen, C.J., 2009. Protein-tyrosine phosphatase alpha acts as an upstream regulator of Fyn signaling to promote oligodendrocyte differentiation and myelination. J. Biol. Chem. 284 33692-33702.
- Wang, Y., Pallen, C.J., 1991. The receptor-like protein tyrosine phosphatase HPTP alpha has two active catalytic domains with distinct substrate specificities. EMBO J. 10 3231-3237.
- Wang, Y.H., Angkasekwinai, P., Lu, N., Voo, K.S., Arima, K., Hanabuchi, S., et al., 2007. IL-25 augments type 2 immune responses by enhancing the expansion and functions of TSLP-DC-activated Th2 memory cells. J. Exp. Med. 204 1837-1847.
- Wark, P.A., Johnston, S.L., Bucchieri, F., Powell, R., Puddicombe, S., Laza-Stanca, V., et al., 2005. Asthmatic bronchial epithelial cells have a deficient innate immune response to infection with rhinovirus. J. Exp. Med. 201 937-947.
- Wen, R., Jou, S.T., Chen, Y., Hoffmeyer, A., Wang, D., 2002. Phospholipase C gamma 2 is essential for specific functions of Fc epsilon R and Fc gamma R. J. Immunol. 169 6743-6752.

- Wong, C.K., Tsang, C.M., Ip, W.K., Lam, C.W., 2006. Molecular mechanisms for the release of chemokines from human leukemic mast cell line (HMC)-1 cells activated by SCF and TNF-alpha: roles of ERK, p38 MAPK, and NF-kappaB. Allergy 61 289-297.
- Xiao, W., Nishimoto, H., Hong, H., Kitaura, J., Nunomura, S., Maeda-Yamamoto, M., et al., 2005. Positive and negative regulation of mast cell activation by Lyn via the FcepsilonRI. J. Immunol. 175 6885-6892.
- Xu, W., Harrison, S.C., Eck, M.J., 1997. Three-dimensional structure of the tyrosine kinase c-Src. Nature 385 595-602.
- Yamaguchi, M., Lantz, C.S., Oettgen, H.C., Katona, I.M., Fleming, T., Miyajima, I., et al., 1997. IgE enhances mouse mast cell Fc(epsilon)RI expression in vitro and in vivo: evidence for a novel amplification mechanism in IgE-dependent reactions. J. Exp. Med. 185 663-672.
- Yamashita, M., Kimura, M., Kubo, M., Shimizu, C., Tada, T., Perlmutter, R.M., et al., 1999. T cell antigen receptor-mediated activation of the Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway controls interleukin 4 receptor function and type-2 helper T cell differentiation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 96 1024-1029.
- Ying, S., O'Connor, B., Ratoff, J., Meng, Q., Mallett, K., Cousins, D., et al., 2005. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression is increased in asthmatic airways and correlates with expression of Th2-attracting chemokines and disease severity. J. Immunol. 174 8183-8190.
- Zeng, L., D'Alessandri, L., Kalousek, M.B., Vaughan, L., Pallen, C.J., 1999. Protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTPalpha) and contactin form a novel neuronal receptor complex linked to the intracellular tyrosine kinase fyn. J. Cell Biol. 147 707-714.
- Zeng, L., Si, X., Yu, W.P., Le, H.T., Ng, K.P., Teng, R.M., et al., 2003. PTP alpha regulates integrin-stimulated FAK autophosphorylation and cytoskeletal rearrangement in cell spreading and migration. J. Cell Biol. 160 137-146.
- Zhang, X., Kohl, J., 2010. A complex role for complement in allergic asthma. Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol. 6 269-277.
- Zheng, X.M., Resnick, R.J., Shalloway, D., 2000. A phosphotyrosine displacement mechanism for activation of Src by PTPalpha. EMBO J. 19 964-978.
- Zheng, X.M., Wang, Y., Pallen, C.J., 1992. Cell transformation and activation of pp60c-src by overexpression of a protein tyrosine phosphatase. Nature 359 336-339.
- Zhu, J., Guo, L., Watson, C.J., Hu-Li, J., Paul, W.E., 2001. Stat6 is necessary and sufficient for IL-4's role in Th2 differentiation and cell expansion. J. Immunol. 166 7276-7281.
- Zhu, Z., Oh, S.Y., Cho, Y.S., Zhang, L., Kim, Y.K., Zheng, T., 2010. Tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 in allergic and anaphylactic inflammation. Immunol. Res. 47 3-13.